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PREFACE 

 

 
Primarily this book has been written to mark the 700

th
 anniversary of the induction of the first 

known vicar, Thomas Dutton, in April 1307, however it seemed to me also that there was a need to 

place on record something of the history and development of this ancient parish church to include 

information and theories based on new research.  

 

Histories of St. Chad's have been written before and in compiling this new history much use was 

been made of The History of a Cheshire Parish by the Reverend Francis E. Powell, published in 

1897. However one ought to note that Powell's work, which is now rare and difficult to access, is a 

lit tle awkward to comprehend with religious comment and trivial content being interwoven 

amongst the history. Since Powell, John Atherton produced a type-script booklet 'Hugh Starkey 

and the Chapel of St Chad' in 1983 and, two years later, an abridged version of Powell's work, 

entitled Saint Chads Parish Church, Over, was produced by Reverend Robert Spencer. 

 

This history, apart from the lists of vicars, curates and churchwardens given in the Appendices, has 

a cut-off point in the late 1930s. My main reason for the curtailment are that 1933 was the year of 

the last significant building project. Thus my time-frame includes Starkey's work on the south aisle 

in 1543, the improvements of 1870, the vestry building in 1897, the east-end extension of 1924 

and the vestry of 1933. Since then there have been a number of improvements and alterations and 

the following are worthy of note:  

 

In 1954 a new central heating system was installed using steel pipes and radiators 

and a booster pump at a cost of £697. 

In May 1961 eighteen acres of the church's glebe land were subject of a compulsory 

purchase order made by Winsford Urban District Council prior to the building of 

the overspill estates for people from Liverpool providing £5165 to the church. 

In 1966 the south-east chapel was re-furnished with a new cross, candlesticks, 

credence table, prayer desk and communion rail. The reredos in this chapel was re-

positioned so as to be central along the east wall and the floor was set with oak 

blocks and the seating pews were turned to face east rather than south. 

In 1978 the old vicarage was sold for £29000 and a new vicarage was established in 

Over Hall Road. 

Between 1981 and 1984 the church roof was repaired at a cost of £77000. 

The present clock was installed in October 1988. 

In 1993 the ancient oak chest was stolen from the church leaving behind the 

padlocks and some documents. A new chest was designed and created by 

J.R.McGrath in 2005 which contains, behind a glass panel, the three padlocks. 

In 2000 the drive to the church from Swanlow lane was improved with the laying of 

a tarmac surface. 

 

Hopefully at some time in the future someone better able than I might complete this history with 

more detail on the above work and something of how the church has served the community of 

Over during the twentieth century. 

 

Finally, I have to acknowledge the help of certain people. Much of the work in compiling 

this history has been done at the Cheshire County Record Office in Chester where the 

diocesan and parish records are held, so I have to thank the County Archivist Jonathan 

Peplar and his staff for their help in obtaining records and making copies of the plans and 

other documents.  Also I have to thank the Reverend Adam Friend for allowing me free 

access to the church and churchwarden Nick Harris for his help. 

 

 

Tony Bostock 

Swanlow 

September 2007 
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Chapter One: 

The Origins of St. Chad's and its Parish 
 

 

On the edges of the urban spread of Winsford lies the ancient parish church of St. Chad, Over. The 

traveller making his way along Swanlow Lane may be forgiven for failing to notice the ancient 

parish church of St Chad's, Over. However, the more observant may notice, through gaps in the 

hedge, on the right-hand side of the road when heading into Winsford, the upper part of the church 

tower low down amongst the fields.  

 

St Chad's obscurity is due to its sitting at the end of four-hundred yards, tree-lined road which runs 

down from Swanlow Lane amongst the fields, through a narrow valley and away from the built-up 

areas of Winsford. Prior to the building of the post-war council estate on what were the Town 

Fields and the later modern housing developments, the church was about a mile distant from most 

of its parishioners whop lived in the village of Over and along Winsford's High Street. In 1894 

Over became amalgamated with the township of Wharton, on the other side of the River Weaver, 

to form the Urban District of Winsford, now a town within the Borough of Vale Royal.  

 

The remoteness of St. Chad's gave rise to a fantastic poetic tale. The Devil, aggrieved at the strict 

piety of the people of Over and the fact that they managed to evade his clutches, sought to deprive 

them of their church, which was then said to be sited along the main street of the village. One day, 

Satan, flying over the village, swooped down, seized the church, with its foundations and 

everything intact, and carried it off. The monks of nearby Vale Royal Abbey hearing of this deed 

immediately began to chant prayers and cause bells to be rung believing that this would frighten 

the Devil. Alarmed at this commotion, Satan, now flying about a mile south, released his prize 

which floated safely down to earth to settle in a secluded valley, where it has remained ever since.
1
 

The reality is that the focus of settlement shifted from the area around the church to a location 

higher up on the Over ridge during the fourteenth century. 

 

In mediaeval times the name of Over (variously spelt as Ovre, Ufra and Huure) referred to a 

manor, a borough and a large rural parish. The ecclesiastical area included the villages and hamlets 

of Over, Swanlow, Darnhall, Wetenhall, Oulton Lowe, Little Budworth, Woodford, Blakeden, 

Little Over, Marton, and Bradford. Anciently, the parish may have included Oakmere before it was 

subsumed into the wastes that were the great forest of Mara Delamere) in the twelfth century. This 

large tract of central Cheshire was sandwiched between the River Weaver to the east, the Ash 

Brook and Wettenhall Brook to the south and south-west, the high ground of the Central Cheshire 

Ridge to the west, and the manor, lordship and parish of Weaverham to the north - an area of about 

38 square miles. 

 

The church's situation in a quiet secluded glen is unusual in that many churches elsewhere in 

Cheshire are situated in prominent positions, or at least on a level with, and close to other 

buildings. In the case of St. Chad's the location may be of particular significance in the clues it 

holds concerning what may be the original name of the locality and the antiquity of this place of 

worship. 

 

An Ancient Place of Worship 

How old is this large mediaeval parish? Over as a place does not occur on the map, metaphorically 

speaking, until it is mentioned in the Domesday Book written in 1086. The name is certainly of 

Saxon origin and would have been taken into use with their arrival in these parts during the sixth 

and seventh centuries - about four centuries before it was first written down. The name derives 

from ofer meaning a hill, ridge or slope. Experts in philology would suggest that purely 

topographical place-names are perhaps the earliest, as opposed to those that are compound names 

such as Marton - 'boundary farm', or those which are habitational such as Budworth - 'Budda's 

clearing'. We may presume that there were people living on the ridge at a much earlier time than 

the Saxon arrival 
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The entry for Over is tantalising. 

  The same Earl holds Ovre. Four freemen  held it as four manors.  

  There is one hide  paying tax. There are five ploughlands.  

  There one radman has one plough. The  woodland is half a league  

  long and as wide. The value was six shillings, now five shillings. 
2
 

We are informed that Over, then held by Hugh the first Norman Earl of Chester, was prior to the 

Norman Conquest composed of four manors held by four men, but neither the constituent manors 

nor the men are named. Besides Over, Darnhall is almost certainly one of the four and one may 

speculate that Marton was another but which was the fourth? In the thirteenth and fourteenth 

centuries, the manor of Over contained a number of dispersed settlements - Swanlow, Mers 

(perhaps the Moors Lane area of Swanlow), Woodford, Hebden, Littler (Little Over), Michel (or 

Greater) Over, Blakeden, Bradford and Helewes.
3
  The other manors in the parish - Wettenhall and 

Budworth - are mentioned in the Survey, as is Conersley (now Whitegate) then a part of the 

Weaverham lordship.
4
  Darnhall was during the time of the Norman Earls a settlement of high 

status as their manor and hunting lodge were located here. John le Scot, the last of the Norman 

Earls, died here in 1237.
5
 In mediaeval times the earl's manor was known as Ovre et Dernhal and 

visa-versa and occasionally Over is referred to as 'a member of Darnhall'. 
6
 

 

Whilst there is no reference to a church or a priest at Over in the Domesday Book, this does not 

mean that it did not exist at that time. The earliest reference to the church is in a charter made by 

Earl Ranulf III during the 1190s in favour of the nuns of St Mary's, Chester, which makes 

reference to a grant made by Ranulf's father, Earl Hugh II, of the church of Over to the nuns some 

forty years earlier.
7
 The purpose of the grant was to give the nuns income from the tithes of the 

parish: a tenth of all the produce from the land. Tithes were normally divided between those 

termed 'great' which were from corn, hay and wood, and which were normally granted to the 

rector, in this case St. Maryôs, and those termed 'small' which covered everything else and paid to 

The mediaeval parish 
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the vicar. The nuns also had the 'advowson' of the church, that is the right to appoint the vicar, 

which they did throughout the Middle Ages apart from a time when the convent was temporarily 

seized into the king's hands in the 1340s. Later the nuns granted the tithes of the townships of 

Little Over, Merton (Marton) and Bradford to the Abbey of Vale Royal.
8
 These townships, which 

were contiguous with the site of the abbey and its demesne lands of Conersley (later known as 

Whitegate), may have marked the original northern boundary of the original ancient parish. If so, 

then the twelfth century bounds of the parish, prior to the foundation at Vale Royal, may have run 

along the Petty Pool Brook, down to the river Weaver.  

 

There are indications of the existence of a church at an earlier date. Although there is no 

architectural evidence in the fabric of the present church earlier than the fourteenth century, there 

are remains of a Saxon cross of the Mercian style, c.750-900. On one side of this piece of stone 

which is now positioned in a niche in the north wall of the chancel, one can make out an 

interwoven lattice work similar to a stone at St. John's, Chester. The Saxon church was probably 

no more than crude timber or stone 'shed', or even simply an uncovered standing cross within an 

enclosure. Here the local priest would have preached, celebrated mass and other church rites, and 

buried the dead in grounds around. The dedication of the church to St. Chad is one that is often 

associated with Anglo-Saxon churches reflecting early traditions surrounding the Saints 

missionary work in the area and may indicate a long-standing episcopal link.
9
 Chad, or Caed, was 

a seventh century missionary who was educated at Lindisfarne and sent by St. Columba to preach 

Christianity to the peoples west of the Pennines. In 667, he became bishop of the Mercian people 

and died in 673. Other churches in Cheshire which have the same dedication are: Chadkirk, near 

Stockport; Farndon, where two priests are recorded in 1086; Tushingham, near Malpas, and 

Wybunbury, where a priest is also recorded in 1086. In the early tenth century, Farndon was a 

royal estate and the church at Wybunbury may have associations with the Mercian royal house as 

it belonged to the diocese based on Lichfield, Chad's episcopal seat, close to the royal residence at 

Tamworth.
10  It may be that Over too was originally a Mercian royal estate or one of the bishop's 

holdings. 

 

St. Chad's Church at Over may have been a minster 

church.  An ad hoc network of óminster' churches 

covered the country in the seventh and eighth centuries. 

These óminsters' - the word is simply the Anglo-Saxon 

translation of the Latin monasterium - were localised, 

collegiate churches, staffed by a team of peripatetic 

clergy who travelled into their óparochiae' (larger 

precursors of the parish) to preach the gospel and 

administer the sacraments. Such churches were founded 

by kings, queens, bishops or members of the Saxon 

aristocracy, and sited close to the caput of the manor 

with the territory of the lord's estate determining the 

extent of the parish. At these monasterium a priest, or a 

collection of clergy, part of the bishop's familia, would 

share a communal life and be responsible for the cure 

of souls within the lord's estate and the parish.  

Although in the post-Conquest era, with the exception 

of Wettenhall, the whole parish area was in the hands of 

the Norman earl of Chester, so far as is know, there was 

no royal or noble ownership in the area prior to the Conquest.
11

  This could be an argument against 

Over being a minster church and parish, unless it can be shown that Over formed part of a larger 

comital estate, such as Weaverham, or was itself owned by the Saxon Earls. It is entirely feasible 

for Over to have been a comital estate before being split into the four manors; the divisions being 

the result of grants to certain individuals as rewards for military service. The fact that Over and 

neighbouring manors were held in demesne by the new Norman Earl of Chester certainly suggests 

that they had been once part of the demesne lands of the Earls of Mercia. Apart from a few 

exceptions, all of the Saxon Earl Edwin's lands became the demesne lands of the Norman Earl 

Hugh, and those other manors, such as Over, which Earl Hugh had from Saxons of lesser status 

may have in fact been held by them directly from Earl Edwin who certainly had interests in this 

The remains of a Saxon cross 



 

 9 

part of Cheshire. He held the important salt towns of Middlewich and Northwich, he held the 

nearby manor of Alpraham, and he held the important manor of Weaverham immediately to the 

north.
12  If Over parish was indeed a minster parish then its origins may date back to the early days 

of Christianity in the area: the eighth century. 

 

The circular churchyard at Over may be indicative of its being the site of a very ancient Celtic 

church.
13

  In fact the altar of St. Chad's church, prior to the extension made in 1926, was located 

exactly in the centre of the circular churchyard. Such early churches were often established on pre-

Christian religious sites. The early Christian missionaries under Abbot Mellitus in A.D.602 were 

exhorted by Pope Gregory to utilise pagan sites to found new churches. 'The temples of the idols 

among that people (the English) should on no account be destroyed. The idols are to be destroyed, 

but the temples themselves are to be aspersed with holy water, alters set up in them and relics 

deposited there'.
14 

 This was so the local people could continue to use, for religious purposes, those 

places they were accustomed to frequent. 

 

The locality certainly bears evidence of Dark Age settlement. Close by the western edge of the 

parish is the lakeside Iron Age fort of Oakmere and the Bronze Age barrow cemetery, known as 

Seven Lows, could mark an ancient boundary.
15

  Flint arrow heads and tools have been found at 

Marton and in the Swanlow Lane area of Over.  The rim of a Roman pot has also been found in 

Swanlow.
16

  Of course we know that the Romans were settled not far away in Northwich and 

Middlewich and even closer at the villa site in Eaton by Tarporley. Roman roads also make their 

appearance: the road south from Warrington forms part of the mediaeval western boundary and 

Watling Street, passing through Sandiway, is close to the northern boundsry. But a Roman road 

may have come even closer. 

 

In Nettleford Wood, Kelsall (alongside Morrey's Nursery) there is a junction of two Roman roads. 

From Chester the road forks in the general directions of Northwich and Middlewich. Traces of the 

Middlewich road, which follows a similar line to present A54, have been discovered at a number 

of locations - through the Abbey Arms Woods, skirting Oakmere just east of Valley Farm, 

crossing the A49 (another Roman Road), passing under 'Bruce Haven' and finally just north of 

York Hill Farm.
17

  No certain evidence of the route further towards Middlewich has been found.  

However, if the line of the road from these four points is projected on a map the line of the road is 

not on a direct heading for Middlewich but straight to the very centre of Over Churchyard! A mere 

coincidence or was there a Roman settlement here? Certainly any Roman Road would have had to 

cross the River Weaver, and the ford below the Church at Ways Green, below Stocks Hill, was an 

ancient crossing place. Even with a slight change of direction the line of the Roman Road would 

reach the Weaver at this point. Here, or nearby, in the seventeenth century, several Roman coins 

were found by men digging a salt-pit.
18

 From this crossing point the route would have then 

continued on towards Harbutt's Field, the site of a Roman military settlement on King Street 

(another Roman Road) in Kinderton, Middlewich. 

 

Proximity to significant springs or wells may also indicate use of an early site.
19

 One of the most 

popular and widespread religious cults in the pre-Christian era was the worship of the goddess of 

water. Springs, wells and rivers were the focal points of cult practises and rituals, with precious 

goods being cast into the water as an offering.
20

  The site of St Chad's church would be most 

appropriate for such worshippers as there are several wells and springs in the immediate vicinity of 

the church and around the churchyard. Many Celtic religious sites were situated in woodland 

groves and at this time the area around the church was probably well wooded. Over church may in 

fact be sited in a Celtic nemeton - a sacred grove.  

 

Philology - the study of place-names, can also provide clues in interpreting the past.  Most of the 

place-names in the parish are topographical with a habitative element which are indicative of the 

earliest Saxon settlements.
21 

 Over is purely topographical from the Old English ofer or ufer 

meaning a 'hill', 'ridge', 'over' or 'above'. Other locations in the parish, although again 

topographical, seem to be of a secondary-settlement nature and are perhaps chronologically later 

than that of Over. Merton means the boundary farm (from mer and ton).
22 

 Swanlow is the 'swine-

herders hill', though a personal name and a tumulus could be considered. Woodford - the 'ford in 

the wood'. Hebden - the 'hip-thorn valley'. Blakeden - the 'dark valley'. Bradford the 'broad fording 
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place'. The meaning of Darnhall is derived from the Old English derne and halh. The first element 

is normally said to mean 'hidden' or 'secluded' and the latter element can mean either a 

'nook','valley' or 'water meadow', but more on this shortly.
23

 To the west were the townships or 

manors of Wettenhall - the 'wet nooks or narrow valleys'; Oulton- the 'old farm' or 'Alda's farm'; 

Lowe - the 'hill' or 'tumulus'; and Budworth - 'Budda's enclosure'.
 

 

In interpreting these local place-names there is an apparent anomaly. If Over is a Saxon word for a 

hill or ridge and if, as would be expected, the original focus of settlement is the area around the 

church, which is situated in a wooded hollow, then why is the church and settlement called Over. 

There are problems too with the interpretation of the area we know as Darnhall which is situated 

on a large stretch of flat land. Admittedly, the Ash Brook cuts through a narrow valley here, but 

almost every valley such as this, running low down through an expanse of flat land, would be 

hidden from view and therefore the 'hidden' element is more likely to refer to something more 

specific. In this area a more likely place-name element for a valley would be -den. What is more 

likely is that Darnhall refers to the area around St Chad's church, and that originally Over was a 

name given to the whole district and therefore means a collection of settlements on a ridge or hill 

and not the name of any one settlement in particular. The territory of one of the pre-Conquest 

manors would have contained the site of the church and manor house of Darnhall. During the time 

of the Norman Earls, the lord's residence, the original manor house close to the church, probably 

Mediaeval Over and Darnhall 
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where Church Hill Farm is today, was moved to a location more remote from the village to the 

present-day Darnhall, with the lands around it being emparked to provide for hunting pursuits. 

Contemporary documentary evidence tends to support this hypothesis. 

 

I now wish to hypothesise further. If the second part of the name is -hall then the full meaning 

could be 'a secluded manor house' and this would be appropriate as manor houses are often in close 

proximity to the church. However, the Anglo Saxon words alh, hærg or weoh mean a 'heathen 

temple', 'heathen shrine' or 'sacred place' respectively.
24

  Thus Darnhall may in fact be Derne-alh 

meaning óthe hidden templeô or Derne-hærg, 'the hidden shrine'. On this same theme the word 

weoh means a 'sacred place'. According to the rental in the Vale Royal Ledger Book, near to the St 

Chad's church there were locations called Wewes and Halewes, which were probably to the east 

and north-east of the church. This first is likely to be the area between the church and the river 

Weaver which today is called Ways Green. Dodgson suggests that wewes was the name of a grove 

belonging to the abbey, probably 'the yews'.
25

 However, there is an alternative. We may be a 

corruption of weoh, and -wes may come from either weg meaning 'way' or else wæsse 'a wet place' 

or 'swamp'. Thus this location might be either 'the ways at the swampy place. The neighbouring 

location was Halewes which Dodgson interprets simply as 'the nooks'. But, if the first element is a 

corruption of alh and the second element is as previously discussed, then we have a place-name 

meaning 'the way to the holy place' or 'the swamp at the holy place'. So, Darnhall, as the old name 

of the manor and estate centred on the church of St. Chad's, may in fact be the dern-alh - the 

hidden temple. 

 

Whist we have no way of knowing which of the ancient meanings of Darnhall is correct the 

association of springs and a circular churchyard and the religious meanings may be more than 

coincidence. Today, this rather secluded location may represent continuity of a sacred place 

stretching back at least one millenium and perhaps, based on the above hypothesis, as much as two 

thousand years. 

 

The Manor of Darnhall 

In what we now call Darnhall, Earl Ranulf III of Chester (1181-1232), then lord of the manor of 

Darnhall and Over, created a deer park for himself and those who would follow him as earls of 

Chester. This area had once been known as Woodford and the previous occupants of the lands, a 

family of the same name were relocated with a grant of lands a little further north in the region of 

the present-day Woodford.
26

 The earl then removed his residence from the manor house at its 

traditional place near to the church to this more remote and suitable place. Here, the Earl had his 

hunting lodge, his place of sport and entertainment and from here the manor would have been 

administered for him. Thus the focus of the manor shifted from the area of the church to the 'new' 

Darnhall - a place of high status.  

 

At the newly emparked part of the manor the lord had a house, servants including hunters, a 

parker, a gardener, and a chapel. In 1246 orders were issued for the appointment of a chaplain to 

perform divine services at Darnhall, but whether this was at a private chapel in the park area or a 

chapel within the church itself we do not know.
27

 Beyond the demesne, in the area which 

comprised of a confederation of small hamlets to the east and north of Darnhall, lay the cultivated 

lands of the bond and free tenants. The majority of whom still lived near to the church in what was 

then known as Churchton.
28

  This rather simple name may indicate local confusion or indecision 

over the old name for the manor, Darnhall, and that of Over by which the manor had then become 

known. From entries in the Pipe Rolls (the Great Rolls of the Exchequer) the available evidence 

seems to indicate that Darnhall was the caput, the headquarters, of the manor and that Over was 

the larger area about. 

 

Importantly for the lord here at Darnhall was the manor court: the judicial, fiscal and governmental 

focus of the manor, which demonstrated his position and rule over the community - the instrument 

of social control. Whilst we have no direct information about the services owed by the villeins to 

their lord, it does seem that their lack of freedom was of a personal nature, in respect of their 

families, their right to land and the payment of certain dues, rather than being totally servile. If 

labour services were required they were probably limited in degree and to a small representative 
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group. Following the disastrous demonstrations made by the bond-men of Over and Darnhall, 

against the abbot of Vale Royal during the first half of the fourteenth century, the only services 

then set down were attendance at the manorial courts and guard duties at the hall of Darnhall. 

 

From what has been said so far it 

seems that during the twelfth and 

thirteenth centuries there was both a 

shift of population and settlement 

focus. Originally there was a small 

settlement centred on an ancient 

place of worship in the secluded 

glen of Darnhall; this then expanded 

and subordinate settlements were 

established up on the higher ground 

around the valley and on the ridge. 

Then, in the late Saxon period, this 

collection of hamlets were grouped 

together as four manors, but when 

the Domesday Commissioners 

carried out their work, these were 

brought together for administrative 

purposes as a single unit with the 

name of Over. Under the lordship of 

the Norman Earls of Chester, the 

Domesday manorial name was 

retained and linked with that of 

Darnhall, the predominant site. The 

church was referred to by the name of the whole area in which it was situated, so that when Earl 

Ranulf confirmed his father's grant to the nuns of Chester, St. Chad's is referred to as ecclesiam de 

Huure.
29

 

 

The Cistercian Abbey 

With the death of the last of the Norman earls of Chester, John le Scot, in 1237 the earldom passed 

into the hands of the King. Seventeen years later King Henry bestowed the title of Earl of Chester 

on his eldest son, Prince Edward, since which time the eldest son the monarch has always held the 

title, in addition to being Prince of Wales. In the late 1260s, Prince Edward granted the manors of 

Over and Darnhall to Cistercian monks at the Abbey of Dore in Hereford for them to establish a 

new abbey at Darnhall using the manorial buildings. A little later, following the grant to the abbey 

of the manor of Conersley the abbey was transferred there and the Abbey of Vale Royal was 

founded.  

 

The creation of the abbey at Darnhall meant that the people of the manor became tenants of the 

abbot rather than the king or his son. This change of lord had a profound effect on the ordinary 

people who were now ruled over by an ever present and avaricious ecclesiastical organisation, 

rather than a more lax absentee landlord. In not welcoming the change of landlord the tenants of 

Over and Darnhall rebelled against the abbot and tried to withdraw their labour, rents and other 

customary services - disputes between the local population and the abbey continued throughout its 

history for the customs of a manor, entrenched in tradition, were law and not easily put aside. If a 

lord tried to make changes to the customary arrangements, to the villeins way of life, to their 

ancient rights and to the old order of society he would be presented, quite naturally, with serious 

problems and hostility: for the customs of a manor largely meant security to its inhabitants. This 

seems to have been the case at Darnhall. The new lord, the abbot, sought to extract every detail of 

his lordship to make as much profit as possible. The Cistercian practise of consolidating their 

holdings, whether manors, whole parcels of lands or strips in the fields, and of enclosing large 

areas for the pasture of sheep and cattle meant the abandonment of ancient rights so far as the 

peasantry were concerned. Life was certainly not easy for the parishioners of St Chad's. 

 

Suggested location of lands mentioned in 1475. 
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The convent at Chester also lost out to the Abbot of Darnhall. Prince Edward granted the new 

monastery the tithes of Over and Darnhall for which the nuns received £4 17s 0d (£4.85) in 

compensation and then later, after the transfer of the abbey to Vale Royal, the nuns lost the tithes 

of the hamlets of Little Over, Bradford and Merton for which they received a further £5 5s 11d 

(£5.30).  

 

In the fourteenth century, in order to attract trade and gain profit thereby, the Abbot, then of Vale 

Royal created a market and borough along what is now Delamere Street. This borough was 

established on the top of the ridge, in the hamlet of Michel ('Greater') Over. As a consequence the 

focus of settlement shifted from the area around the church to this centre of business, the route 

from Middlewich to Chester being diverted through this 'new' town. 

 

The creation of a borough may have been as a result of the consequences of the Black Death. The 

effects of the pestilence of 1349 had a significant effect on the population of Cheshire and it may 

be that as many as fifty per cent of the abbey's tenant families, who numbered around one hundred 

and fifty, perished causing the abbot serious financial concerns. The creation of a borough would 

bring trade and attract new people to the area and, importantly generate much needed income. 

 

In 1475 a settlement was reached between Abbot William and Prioress Elizabeth as to certain 

lands within the parish on which the tithes were payable to Vale Royal.
30

 The Abbey had the right 

to all tithes within the parish so why there had been an apparent dispute over the various parcels of 

land listed in the agreement is not recorded. However, two pieces of land were close to the church 

and may have been contained within the churchyard and thus claimed as appurtenances of St. 

Chad's. The description of these lands is interesting: 

Item a medowe on the north side the 

chyrche of Overee devydytt by a lytyll sych 

dych, and a parcel of ground negh to the 

vicarage opon part of the quich grownd S. 

Tho. Wolley late Vicar of Oueree edyfyett a 

bay of his berne by sufferance of the abbott 

and convent that tyme being. 

 

The meadow land to the north of the church is perhaps 

where the car park is today and up towards the 

farmhouse; at one time there was a little ditch with a 

stream running down through it. The other piece of 

ground would have been on the high ground to the 

south or southeast and close to what was the vicarage 

until the late nineteenth century. 

 

About the same time (1475) the nuns of St Mary's sold 

their house known as the 'Rector's House'. The location 

of this building, sometimes referred to as the 'Manor 

House', was to the north-west of the church and above 

the shippon built in what was known as the 'Parson's 

Orchard'. 

 

The Mediaeval Parish Church 

Information about the church and parish of St. Chad's is extremely rare throughout the mediaeval 

period but, from a taxation return of 1291, we know something of the value of the church property 

in Over. Pope Nicholas ordered a taxation of a tenth of clerical income which was to granted to 

King Edward I to finance a crusade. Over was assessed as being worth £9 6s 8d, meaning that a 

tax of 18s 8d was raised.
31

 In comparison Weaverham was assessed on £13 6s 8d and Middlewich 

on £53 6s 8d. 

 

The population of the parish in the 1340s, prior to the arrival of the plague probably consisted of 

about 700 people of which the vast majority lived in Over and Darnhall. The remainder of the 

Possible mediaeval stonework at the 

west end of the south arcade 
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parishioners lived and worked in Budworth, Wettenhall, and Oulton Lowe where they were out of 

the hands of the abbot of Vale Royal, though not from his influence on local affairs.  

 

At Budworth there is a church which was originally a chapel served by a curate within the parish 

of Over. Whilst the manor of Budworth is mentioned in the pages of Domesday there is no 

mention of a church or a priest. The first reference to this place of worship is when Earl Ranulf III 

of Chester confirmed earlier grants by Hugh II and Ranulf II of the chapel along with the church at 

Over to the nunnery of St Mary, Chester. About the year 1232 Robert Grosvenor, then lord of the 

manor of Budworth, claimed the advowson of the chapel which was disputed by the earl on the 

grounds that it had been included in his ancestors' grants to St Mary's.  

 

Wettenhall another place mentioned in the Domesday Book became the home of a family of that 

name until in the fourteenth century it was divided between two daughters who married members 

of the Bostock and Manley families. Oulton and Lowe became the home of families bearing those 

names until merged under the Oltons whose heiress married a member of the Starkey family. 

 

 

We know nothing of what the mediaeval church looked like. We can however make some 

assumptions based on the development of parish churches generally. Originally, in all probability, 

there will have been a simple single aisled rectangular building consisting of a nave and chancel, 

with a single ridge roof, similar perhaps to the twelfth century church at Shocklach near Malpas 

and the interior may have been brightly painted with religious images as was often the case with 

mediaeval churches. As the most substantial building in the immediate area and a focus for 

community life, many secular activities were allowed to take place inside and these would be 

confined to the nave the upkeep of which was the parishioners responsibility, leaving the chancel 

for official ceremony and the responsibility of the rector. This arrangement was formalised by a 

synod in 1287. Any church development during the medieval period probably consisted of narrow 

side aisles to the nave necessitating arcades alongside the nave to support the roof, but little can be 

gleaned from the present fabric.  

 

Of possible fourteenth century date are parts of the east window of the nave with its with 

reticulated tracery, some of the stone work surrounding this window, parts of the north wall of the 

nave and the window there, a small piece of walling at the west end of the south arcade which has 

the remnants of a window arch, and the moulded south doorway. Until the lengthening of the 

church in 1925, the east corner of the north side of the nave, and the east wall of the chancel were 

also said to from the same century. Along the north wall there are three ancient each of a different 

style; these may infact be mediaeval, though those with the flat tops could be early Tudor. . 

 

Suggested layout of the church circa 1500, following the building of the tower. It is possible that 

the chancel was shorter. Windows in the north and south walls have not been positioned 
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High up on the south side of the tower, which was 

probably built in the latter part of the fifteenth 

century, there is a much weathered sandstone tablet. 

The inscription around the edge is almost impossible 

to read, however, the left hand edge does seem to 

read: IRrychArd Man which presumably refers to a 

member of the Manley family who from the late 

fourteenth century until the mid-sixteenth century 

were lords of half of the manor of Wettenhall. Along 

the bottom '+ hee' can be deciphered. The top centre 

is marked with a letter 'S' and the image which was 

carved in the centre has completely disappeared. 

However, it does seem that the image may have been 

of a human form with arms outstretched which 

suggests either Christ on the Cross or else a 

representation of St. Chad in a welcoming pose. The 

location of this stone is strange and unlikely to have 

been its original site. It may pre-date the tower and 

may have originally been in the gable of the west end 

wall. Alternatively it may be contemporary with the tower and identifies the builder as Richard 

Manley, lord of Wettenhall. Unfortunately known pedigrees of the family list only one Richard 

who flourished in the late fourteenth century, married Elizabeth one of the Wettenhall heiresses, 

and died in 1415 on the Agincourt campaign. Richard and Elizabeth Manley had a son John who 

died in 1427, and thereafter the names of Thomas John and James feature as eldest sons of the 

family. Yet, according to a seventeenth century manuscript, a window in the church installed by 

John Manley in 1509 in memory of his parents, carried an inscription which read: Orate pro bono 

statu Rici Manley et Elena ux eius et pro Joh'is filius eius qui hanc fenestram fecit. 1509 .
32

 

Whatever, it does seem that the Manley family of Wettenhall were benefactors of St Chad's church 

in the late fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries.
33

. The window referred to was apparently 

removed in 1864 but some traces of the medieval glass were inserted into the east window of the 

north aisle including the two medallions depicting the 'Agnus Dei' or 'Paschal Lamb' and the 

'Pelican in her Piety', which are now in the modern north wall
34

 These heraldic illustrations denote 

in the first instance Christianity and is the emblem of St John the Baptist, and in the other is a 

symbol of piety, self-sacrifice and Christian virtue. 

 

 

 

 

The Church in the Landscape 

We have already referred to St Chad's as lying in a valley amongst the fields of Over and Darnhall, 

but what did the area took like in the mediaeval period? Where did the people live? Where did they 

work? Where were their fields? Between the modern High Street and the border with Weaver 

township to the south there were four small valleys running down to the river Weaver, each with a 

small stream emanating from a spring on the side of the sandy ridge. These were 'Denelden', 

'Schotwallden', 'Chyrchden' and 'Olreden': it was in the third of these that the church stood. On the 

ridge itself and on the spurs between the valleys lay the fields divided into strips held severalty by 

the tenantry and their dwellings. 

 

The road layout was probably much as we know it today with a main highway running along the 

The 'Manley' tablet 

'The Agnus Dei' and 'The Pelican in her Piety'.  

Medallions now found in a northern window, 

but once part of the east window of the 

chancel. 
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line of the modern Swanlow Lane. Joining this was a lane coming in from Wettenhall and known 

in the middle ages as 'Dernelenes'. A lane from Middlewich ascended the ridge from a crossing 

point below Stocks Hill passed north of the church. In part this probably known as 'Bradestrete', 

the 'broad street'. This name is interesting as the use of street in mediaeval language often refers to 

the line of an ancient routeway, often Roman, and may therefore allude to the line of the Roman 

road linking Middlewich and Chester (see page three). Of this routeway a lane turned down the 

valley crossed the stream and the rose up again to join the highway opposite the Old Rectory. The 

modern lane which provides access to the church will probably have then been a swampy area in 

the vicinity of a spring from which the stream ran down past the church. The land from 

Middlewich forked on Stocks Hill, crossed the stream and then ascended the ridge near to the 

'Olreden' and along what is now Welsh Lane. Another route may have gone from Stocks Hill 

towards the 'Denelden' and then on towards the borough of Over.  

 

In the area of the present 'Old Star' was the hamlet of 'Churchton' the largest area of settlement in 

the parish. In the mid fourteenth century there were thirty-three known messuages and fifty-two 

tenants of either messuages or plots of land. The concentration of the population will undoubtedly 

have been along Swanlow Lane between what is now the 'Old Star' and Welsh Lane. Beyond this 

village, if we may call it that, were a few small settlements at Mers (in the Moors Lane area) with 

thirteen messuages and in Halewes, nine messuages. In all the number of dwelling properties 

suggests a population of over 200 people in the area around the church. There were other areas of 

settlement too. At 'Michel Over', 'Little Over', 'Hebden', 'Blakeden' and within the Borough itself, 

perhaps therefore doubling the population numbers. 

 

The church, as now, was certainly surrounded by fields. Strips and plots were held by the local 

people in the 'Chyrchefeld', in the 'Chyrcheden', 'next the Chyrchestoc' (the church place) and the 

field of Chyrcheton itself. In the valley with its steep sides and boggy terrain there was only a little 

over a quarter of an acre (about half a statute acre) of useful land and that was held by Robert the 

Cowherd, possibly for pasture purposes. Close by the church there was a field of about seven acres 

which in all probability was somewhere just south of the church and alongside the vicarage was 

another field. In 'Chyrchefeld' there were about four acres of land. The town fields of Chyrchton 

consisted of about forty-four Chreshire acres.
35

 Beyond these fields there were also arable lands at 

Halewes, about twenty acres; Mers (near the junction of Moors Lane and Swanlow Lane) about ten 

acres with a further acre and half in 'Merslone' and seven in 'Littlemor'; 'Wewes' about seven acres; 

and 'Olredenfeld' with thirty-three acres. In this area of Cheshire the arable strips were known as 

'loonts', a word which persisted through to the nineteenth century. The tithe map of 1846 clearly 

shows these strips along each side of Swanlow Lane, and the term used still survives today in the 

residential area called 'The Loont'.
36

 

 

Further out from the church there were fields adjoining the hamlets of Hebden ('Heppedenefeld' 

with about twenty acres) and Blakeden ('Blakedenfeld' with about twenty-four acres). Two other 

large fields were 'Burifeld' (the borough field) with about sixteen acres, and 'Asfeld' (known until 

recent times as 'Ashfield') with about sixteen acres. 

 

Further away still were the common pasture lands which merged with the territory of the Forest of 

Mara (Delamere). Within the bounds of the forest special laws pertained imposing on the 

inhabitants and those who ventured there, measures and obligations designed for the protection and 

management of deer. The manors of 'Conersley' (Whitegate) and Budworth were wholly within the 

forest jurisdiction and Merton was on its very edge.
37

 

 

Mediaeval Priests 

Thomas Dutton is the first known vicar who occurs in the list of vicars in 1307. The names of the 

priests before him are not known. He may have been a junior son of the Dutton family who were 

the mediaeval lords of Dutton, near Runcorn. One of the early vicars, a man simply named as 

Thomas died in the summer of 1349, the time of the Black Death. He was followed in July that 

year by John de Newenham, a canon of St John's Chester who was appointed by Edward the Black 

Prince to be vicar of Over. As he only remained as vicar for a few months it has been said that this 

cleric died of the plague. In fact he resigned and was appointed by the King to the church of 
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Farndish, Bedfordshire, the following December; he eventually died in 1390 following a very 

varied career in the church.
38

 Newneham was not replaced until March 1349 (or 1350 using the 

modern calendar). 

 

There may have been another vicar to add to the list. According to the rental of the Abbey of Vale 

Royal, said to be dated circa 1334, a Richard Licoris who held a messuage and toft in 

'Chyrcheton', was the vicar of Over.
39

 This rental is only available in a printed version of a copy of 

the original and one cannot but query whether 'Licoris' is a mis-transcription of vicarious. The 

same rental also makes reference to the field next to the vicarage house where Richard the clerk 

had half an acre and two plots of land. Is this the same Richard - a clerk in Holy Orders? The 

known list of vicars does not include a Richard in the mid-fourteenth century. The messuage held 

by the vicar is likely to have been to the south east of the church, the site of the later vicarage. The 

same rental suggests that the vicar had a man-servant named Robert. A 'Robert le Vicarmon' had 

recently died and his widow is recorded as paying 4d rent for a messuage, toft and a plot of land in 

Blakeden. 

 

The nuns also had a house here, later known as 'the Rector's House, which they sold in 1475. 

Again we can with reasonable accuracy place this building to the site of the old manor house in the 

vicinity of Church Hill Farm to the north of the church. 

 

John de Bostock became vicar in 1411 and remained so for twenty-two years: he was certainly a 

local man. In 1417 he and three of his relations entered into a recognizance with Elizabeth, 

prioress of the nuns at Chester, in the sum of £22. 
40

  

 

The most infamous vicar of Over was Richard Asthull who was inducted in 1433. On Wednesday 

15 May 1437, the vicar along with George Weaver of Wimboldsley, Robert Pryket of Over, and 

John Bamford lay in wait for Abbot Thomas of Vale Royal in Bradford Wood (a location along 

Grange Lane, between Knights Grange and Whitegate). It is said that they were accompanied by 

eighty armed men. When the abbot came along they assaulted him. Pryket struck him with a sword 

on the shoulder giving him a deep wound; Bamford hit him on the head with an iron bill and cut 

his neck felling him to the ground; Weaver then ran him through the body twice with a sword; and 

Asthull struck on the head wounding face, chin and neck and then thrust him through the body to 

ensure he was dead. The four assassins fled to Holt Castle.
41

 Another account has a similar story 

involving a number of men from Staffordshire and Derbyshire who attacked the abbot in Gale 

Green, the fatal blow being delivered by John Adamson of Belper. In the list of incumbents 

Asthull is shown as being vicar from 1433 to 1442 when, according to Ormerod, following his 

death he was replaced by a Thomas Wolley. 

 

Another vicar who does not appear in the listings is Robert Cottingham. In 1480 an inquest was 

held into his death which recorded that the vicar of Over had been killed in Delamere Forest 

(apparently near the Fishpool Inn) by one of his parishioners, Ralph Overton of Oulton Lowe, on 

Saturday 26 August 1480.42  
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A mediaeval window in the 

north wall of the chancel 

Three mediaeval windows in the north wall 
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Chapter Two: 

The Tudor Period 
 

 

The accession of King Henry VII to the throne of England in 1485 introduced the Tudor dynasty 

and the start of the modern era of English history. Under the Tudors (1485 - 1603) England 

emerges from the Middle Ages into a new world of social and economic change, an era of 

adventure and exploration, a golden age of English history. This period saw increases in 

population and a continuation in the relaxation of the rigid mediaeval manorial system leading to 

rising prosperity for landowners with opportunities for increased wealth for those involved in trade 

and commerce. As regards religion the pendulum swayed to and fro between Catholicism and 

Protestantism during the reigns of five monarchs: Henry VII, Henry VIII, Edward VI, Mary and 

Elizabeth. 

 

In 1534, in order to gain his divorce from Catherine of Aragon and re-marriage to Anne Bolyn, 

Henry VIII broke from the Church of Rome and established the Church of England. A 

consequence of this was the Dissolution of the monasteries and other religious houses, which 

included St. Mary's Priory in 1537 and Vale Royal in 1538. Their property in lands and tithes was 

seized into royal hands and sold off. Darnhall was sold to Rowland Hill, an alderman and merchant 

of London for £682 in 1541. A short time later, the Vale Royal Abbey buildings along with the 

lordships of Over, and all the associated lands were purchased by Thomas Holcroft a royal clerk in 

the office dealing with the Dissolution at a cost of nearly £1000. This then became his familyôs 

home for three generations. 

 

The new diocese of Chester was formed in 1541 from the old see of Lichfield with John Bird as its 

first bishop and from this time on the Bishop of Chester as rector of the parish appointed the vicar 

of Over, succeeding to the rights of the dissolved convent of St Mary's. What local people thought 

about the change we have no way of knowing, but given the constant feuding between the abbot 

and his tenants and the neighbouring local gentry it is reasonable to assume that many breathed a 

sigh of relief at the end of the rule of the Lord Abbot. Religious life for the people of the parish 

will have continued as before, save for the fact that they no longer prayed for the Pope.  

 

The accession of Edward VI made changes that certainly would have been noticed by the 

parishioners. Injunctions of 1547 caused old ceremonies to be abolished, churches to be stripped of 

all ornamentation, statues and other images were destroyed, and plate was to be sold with the 

proceeds going to the churchwardens for maintenance of the fabric or to the poor. Many churches 

were whitewashed during this time concealing the old wall paintings. Parish registers of baptisms, 

marriages and burials became mandatory in England and Wales in 1538 on the orders of Thomas 

Cromwell, Vicar General to King Henry VIII. Every Sunday the priest in the presence of the 

churchwardens was required to record the events of the previous week and to then keep the register 

locked in a double-locked coffer. Failure to keep the register was punishable with a fine of 3s 4d 

(17p) which was to be spent on the upkeep of the church. The order was repeated in 1547 but this 

time the fines were to go to relieving the poor people of the parish, then, in 1549, a new prayer 

book was introduced.. Later, in 1563 an Act was passed instructing parish officials to keep their 

registers in great books of parchment instead of loose pieces of paper, and that retrospective entries 

were to be made back to the first year of the Queen's reign. The first volume of the Over registers 

begins: ñA Book called a Register of the Church of Over, beginning at the Feaste of St. Michael 

and all Angels in the yar of our Lord God 1558, in the fifth and sixth years of the reigne of our 

Sovereign Lord and Ladle Philipp and Maria by the Grace of God, Queen of England, Francia, 

Jerusalem, Spain and Ireland, of christenings, burials and weddings.ò 

 

During the reign of Mary (1553-1558), the Roman Catholic religion was restored and all the 

statutes relating to religious matters which had been passed in Edwardôs VIôs reign were annulled, 

but then, under Elizabeth's Act of Supremacy and Uniformity, in 1559 the Protestant religion was 
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re-affirmed and church attendance became compulsory on Sundays and Holy Days with 

parishioners being required to óabide orderly and soberlyô. Catholicism was proscribed and its 

practice subject to severe penalties. The saying of Mass, propaganda for the óRomish religionô, 

non-attendance at the parish church, the possession of images, holy pictures or rosaries were all 

forbidden with crippling fines and, for repeated offences, imprisonment and sometimes death. All 

óshrines, pictures, painting and other monuments of feigned miraclesô had to be destroyed óso that 

there remain no memory of the same in walls, glass windows and elsewhere within the churches 

and housesô. The homes of the people could be searched by the churchwardens for illegal articles 

of piety, and churchwardens were also empowered to present lists of those ówho will not readily 

pay their penalties for not coming to Godôs Divine Service according to the statutesô. There were 

also many other disabilities which made the practice of óthe old religionô extremely difficult and 

dangerous. 

 

Under these circumstances the Catholic communities dwindled and such Catholic worship as 

persisted was conducted with the greatest secrecy. The reports of the bishops to Elizabethôs 

council testify that there were many Catholics in Cheshire for,  .....on all hands people fall from 

religion, revolt to Popery, refuse to come to church; the wicked Popish priests reconcile them to 

the Church of Rome...ô The survival of Catholic communities depended to a large extent on the 

sympathies of the local justices and the isolation of the communities.  

 

During the reign of Elizabeth I an attempt was made to establish the Church of England on a 

sufficiently broad base, in matters of doctrine, to include all shades of opinion. This attempt was 

not wholly successful. A section of the Catholic population refused to accept the óElizabethan 

Compromiseô and continued to worship in their accustomed manner, though this was illegal and 

heavy fines were imposed.  

 

In this same year the Vestry, a body of local land holders and rate-payers, became the unit of local 

government through the administration of the churchwardens. The churchwardens, one for each 

township of the parish - Over, Swanlow and Wettenhall - were elected for one year at a meeting of 

the Vestry held during Easter week. Invariably they were drawn from the yeomen, husbandmen, 

craftsmen and tradesmen - men with reasonable financial resources - but not from the gentry nor 

from the poor. Following their election churchwardens were required to take an oath before the 

rural dean. Although unpaid and part-time their obligations were onerous. They were responsible 

for religious conformity, the orderly conduct of worship, reporting absenteeism, reporting on 

recusancy and immorality, the provision of books and the bread and wine for communion, burying 

unknown people who died within the parish and the care of the poor. Perhaps their main 

responsibility was the maintenance of the church fabric, collection of the church rates or 'leys', and 

the proper keeping of accounts. Two other obligations are perhaps both surprising and interesting - 

the destruction of vermin and the maintenance of the parish armory (armour, muskets, powder and 

shot). In 1566 the Queen's government made a provision for churchwardens to reward parishioners 

who presented the beaks or eggs of 'noyful fowls' - threes might be crows, magpies, rooks or some 

other locally nominated bird or animal. In over it seems that sparrows and hedgehogs were the 

problem. A list of weapons held by each church for its defence was made in 1606 and Over, like 

many other churches, possessed a musket and ancillary equipment.
43

 Unfortunately the vestry 

minutes and churchwardens' accounts do not survive from this early period and are only extant 

from the mid-eighteenth century, so more will be said on this subject in a later chapter.  

 

The size of population of the parish in the sixteenth century is not easy to estimate. The earliest 

numerical indicators for the early-modern period are the muster returns of 1544 and 1546; these 

are lists of men between the ages of fifteen and sixty who were able to bear arms.
44

 By using a 

multiplier of seven, to account for women, children and the infirm, an estimate of population can 

be made. In 1544, Over, Marton and Swanlow had 105 able-bodied men, assuming Marton, which 

was in Whitegate parish, to have about 40 of these this gives a population figure of about 450.
45

 

This seems to accord with the parish registers which suggests a figure of around 550 including 

people from Wettenhall and Oulton. The figure from the muster returns of 1546 is much lower 

equating to 420 people in the three townships and it may be presumed that the returns on that 

occasion were incomplete for one reason or another. If the estimate of about 500 is correct it 

suggests that the effects of the Black Death, some two hundred years earlier, were catastrophic and 
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had only just been compensated for. The population of the parish probably rose to about 800 in the  

 

 

early 1590s dropping slightly by the end of the century.
46

 

 

The Establishment of Whitegate Parish 

Perhaps since the late 14
th
 century there had been a church or chapel 'dedicated in the honour of 

our blessed Lady situate at the outer gate' to the precincts of Vale Royal Abbey. According to 

ancient decrees from the Pope, it was declared to be a parish church serving the needs of the 

Abbey's tenants. Successive abbots would have appointed monks to perform the role of priest to 

officiate at baptisms, marriages, funerals and various services.  

 

The establishment of this new church meant a number of agreements between the abbot of Vale 

Royal and the vicar of Over as regards tithes. An agreement that the vicar of Over, then Randle 

Larden, could have the tithes of flax and hemp grown in the Foxwist area, during the abbot's 

pleasure, was made in 1487. Larden is normally listed as being inducted as vicar in 1513 but this 

agreement suggests he was inducted much earlier, perhaps in that year. A similar agreement was 

made with the next vicar Ralph Dawn (1525-1562).
47

 

Whitegate parish was formed in 1542 taking parts of  Over and Weaverham parishes 
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The tower, showing gargoyles and carvings of human heads 

on the west face. 

 

With the dissolution of the Abbey in September 1538 the status of this church, now in the king's 

hands, was thrown into some doubt, especially since the ancient Papal Bulls, decrees and other 

papers had been destroyed by the king's officials. The vicar of Over, Robert Dawne, seizing the 

initiative considered the whole of Over township to be part of his parish and made every effort to 

encourage the residents to attend St Chad's. It is likely that the majority of these people had 

traditionally attended the church at the 'White gate' as tenants of the abbey's demesne lands and 

considered Dawne's requirement as an imposition to travel the extra distance to Over and 

consequently petitioned the king to retain their church. To settle matters an Act of Parliament 

declared that the church of Whitegate would be a parish church independent of Over and from 

1542 Richard Benion, the then incumbant, became vicar of the church and parish of Our Blessed 

Lady the Virgin of Whitegate. King Henry retained the advowson, along with the tithes of corn, as 

the lay rector, and allowed Benion the remaining tithes as vicar.
48

 

 

The outcome for the parish of Over was that it lost the areas of Knights, Foxwist, Gale, 

Salterswall, Marton, Brookhouses, some small parcels of land in Over township and Darnhall, 

where following the move to Vale Royal the abbey had continued to keep a farm or grange. 

Budworth too may have been recognised as a separate parish at this time. 

 

The Church in the Tudor Period 

As a prelude to the Dissolution, a valuation was made of all church property in 1535. The Valor 

Ecclesiasticus lists the rectory of Over as being worth £8 13s 4d to the Priory of St Mary, of which 

the vicar received about a half, and the vicarage itself being worth £7 4s 0d; the convent also had 

rents from the parish worth 10s 4d.
49

 

 

Much of the present fabric of St. Chadôs is of the Tudor period. Many of the windows are from the 

fifteenth and sixteenth Perpendicular period of architecture, though some may be 'modern' versions 

of that style.  

 

The tower would seem to date from the late fifteenth century perhaps as early as the 1480s. In 

many ways it resembles those at Weaverham, Backford, Shotwick and Handley; the last of which 

is known to have been constructed in 1513.  

 

Immediately below the top section is a 

string course upon which can be seen a 

series of large and gruesome gargoyles, or 

waterspouts, at each corner and in the 

centre on each side. Next below is a deeply 

cut frieze of diagonal crosses that forms the 

top of the next section which is strewn with 

carvings of human heads and animals; on 

the south side one animal seems to be that 

of a boar. The diagonal pattern frieze is not 

a usual feature and is only found around 

the tops of the towers at Middlewich, 

Wybunbury, Gawsworth and Prestbury. 

The heads which gaze down are features of 

the towers at Backford, Shotwick and 

Handley. This upper section also contains 

the belfry windows which have three lights 

and simple tracery. The arched canopy mouldings terminate in carvings of human heads.  

 

Of particular note on the tower are the masons marks. Close examination many of the stone blocks 

will r eveal four different symbols: a five pointed star, a 'w' surmounted by a small horizontal line, 

a diagonal cross, and, the most common, a mark resembling an angular form of 'h' or '4'. This latter 

mark also appears at Backford, Weaverham and Tattenhall. These marks were used as signatures 

by the skilled craftsmen who cut and dressed the stone blocks used by the builders. It is interesting 



 

 23 

A masonôs mark 

to note that these marks only appear on the tower walls and 

suggest that these stones are of an earlier date than the walls of the 

church itself. Such marks certainly do not appear on the walls of 

Starkey's south aisle or south porch which suggests that the tower 

and south side of the church are not contemporary. 

 

In 1543 Hugh Starkey of Olton had major re-building of the 

medieval church carried out at his expense. The important feature 

of his work was the lengthening and widening of the south aisle, 

perhaps to create a private chapel and in memory of his ancestors 

as was customary amongst the gentry in those days. Previously the 

width of this aisle will have been the same as the north aisle at that 

time, about six feet wide. As a consequence of this the roof of the 

nave was raised up to allow for a new ridged roof over the aisle. 

The south elevation of the church then had an embattled wall of six sections or bays, the 

westernmost being the south entrance to the church. The two bays and windows at the east end of 

the south wall that we see today are of the 1923 extension. 

 

The bays of Starkey's church enlargement do not correspond in any way to the south arcade within 

the church and are not all of the same width: the second and third from the east are somewhat 

wider and accommodate windows with five lights which match that at the east end. The other four 

window bays have windows of four lights which match that at the west end. Each window has a 

curved canopy moulding terminating with corbels representing human heads. The reasons for this 

unsymmetrical arrangement are not clear. One is tempted to wonder whether he had access to the 

window frames and his builder wanted to make then fit. If this hypothesis is correct where did the 

windows come from? 

 

In 1538 the Abbey of Vale Royal was acquired by Sir Thomas Holcroft, a royal clerk involved in 

King Henry VIII's dissolution of the monasteries. From this time the abbey precincts became his 

family home. A few weeks after taking possession Holcroft reported that he had 'plucked down' 

the abbey church and one may reasonably presume that this entrepreneur made every opportunity 

to profit from the materials. Is it possible that some of the building blocks and the window frames 

came from this great church?  I think so. 

 

Starkey also had the south porch built with its parvise chamber above; just as we see it today. 

Some say that he actually built the tower but it is more likely that he re-modelled or improved it in 

some way. 

 

This south aisle was still described as 'new' in 1573. In his will dated 14 May that year, Arthur 

Painter of Knights Grange requested that his 'bodye & bonnes' be buried in the church at Over 

'betwyne ye new Ise & Mr Hassalles forme'.
50

 

 

In the south aisle there was once a stained glass window to the memory of John and Agnes 

Starkey; John being depicted in plate armour. This window was removed in the mid nineteenth 

century.
51

 Remnants of this window are now inserted in a window high up along the wall of the 

north aisle. In the centre of the first section a ladies clasped hands can be made out; in the middle 

panel there is the image of a man kneeling at a desk and wearing armour; and in the right hand 

panel, which is a complete jumble of pieces, the remains of part of a date in Roman numerals can 

be seen in the bottom right-hand corner. 

 

The south porch has two stories; the lower has a Tudor-headed doorway, a side window and 

diagonal buttresses. The second storey, however, projects over the lower one, resting upon two 

deep half-round cornice mouldings, giving the appearance of a barbican gateway. The upper storey 

is plain except for a small oblong window set well up the wall, the canopy moulding of which  

encircles a coat of arms and pushes up the parapet string at this point. The coat of arms 

incorporates the quarterings of the Starkey and Olton families. Within, on the right of the lower 

storey, is an elaborate holy water stoup with quatrefoils round the basin, and a sunk panelled shaft. 
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Above the basin is a trefoiled canopied arch with crockets and label stops, and there is also old 

stone seating on both sides. 

 

While there was no vicar in residence, the 'parvise' or chamber over the porch may have been used 

for lodging and sheltering a visiting priest; sometimes they were used as a school room. Parvises 

were also used by the sacristan and guardian of the Church - a very necessary official when the 

Church contained many valuables which were insufficiently protected. 

 

The only old wood-work remaining in the church is found in the sixteenth century south porch roof 

that would appear to belong to Hugh Starkeyôs restoration work.  

 

In the sanctuary is a canopied tomb of red sandstone with a black marble slab inlaid with a fine 

brass depicting Hugh Starkey with the family's coat of arms engraved at each corner. It was this 

Hugh, born in 1487, who built the south aisle in 1543. The gentleman is shown wearing typical 

Tudor armour and. The inscription reads: 

ñOff yo
r
 charite py for the soule of Hugh Starky of Olton, esquier, gentliman 

usher to King Henry y
e
 viii and son to Hugh Starky of Olton, esquier, which 

Hugh y
e
 son decessyd the yere of o

r
 lord God MV

C
       O hys soule Jhu have 

m
r
cy.ò 

 

The final years of the date are left blank as the tomb had been constructed during Hugh's lifetime 

and no one bothered to have the numerals '55' added. 

 

The inscription, in beautifully formed letters, on the wall above reads: 'Et Gloria Soli deo honor'. 

The frame decorated with crocketts was once surmounted by the Starkey crest of a stork which is 

now broken away: note the well formed initials H and S. 

 

Interestingly the black marble slab has been cut to fit the recess and the tomb chest; also it is of 

superior quality to the chest. This suggests 

that Hugh's tomb was originally elsewhere, 

and according to his will within the chancel, 

then at some time, perhaps for expedience, 

this other tomb was removed and the slab 

placed into the recess. Also it seems that the 

original tomb chest has been shortened: the 

moulded edge is missing on the left, the 

carving of quatrefoils and the legend are not 

symmetrical with the arch and one of the 

quatrefoil panels of the base has been cut 

through. The can be little doubt that this was 

originally a recessed tomb chest, but its age 

as indicated by both style and condition is 

much older than that normally ascribed to it. 

It is likely to have been the tomb of the first 

Tudor glass depicting John Starkey, now in a window of the north aisle 

The Starkey arms above the door of the south porch 
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Hugh Starkey of Olton who died in 1438 but what was atop of it - a brass or a stone effigy we do 

not know. It is said that his tomb was empty when opened during the 1904 renovations to the north 

aisle.
52

 

 

There was also an altar tomb before the steps of the chancel, containing Hugh Starkeyôs father, 

who died in 1526, and his mother which bore an incised brass with two figures and a coat of arms 

showing Egerton impaled with Starkey. The inscription identified this as the tomb of Hugh Starkey 

and Margaret Egerton. This tomb was in its position in 1855, was subsequently moved to the south 

side of the chancel, and then by the end of the nineteenth century it was removed into the 

churchyard at the east end of the church, but the brasses have disappeared. 

 

The Vicars 

The first vicar under the Tudors was Randle Larden who was probably inducted in 1487, or a little 

earlier. During his time there were four bells in the tower one of which was said to have been 

inscribed 'The gift of Vicar Larden 1513'.
53

 James Johnson was the next vicar until his death in 

1525 when Ralph Dawne took over. Interestingly at this time for some reason the patronage was 

taken over by the King. The next vicar Ralph Barker may have been a member of the local Barker 

family of Bark House, Whitegate, and he was succeeded by Robert Vaudrey in 1566 at the 

instigation of his father Robert Vaudrey, esquire, who then held the advowson. The Bishop of 

Chester nominated the next vicar, Robert Forster, following Vaudrey's resignation. The last Tudor 

vicar was Ralph Kettle, a member of another local family. 

 

Another vicar may have been Humphrey Lightfoot, clerk. When Hugh Starkey wrote his will in 

1555 he said that the next presentation to the vicarage of Over was to be this man should he be 

living when a vacancy occurred.
54

 There is no extant record indicating that the Starkey family had 

a right of presentation, however the Crown had the advowson from at least 1525 and as it was a 

common practise for the right to farmed out, Starkey could have acquired it. He certainly states in 

his will that he has the advowson 'by grant' and bestows it upon his executors. 

 

The Starkey Family 

The Starkey, or Starky, family of Oulton Lowe resided in the township for nearly 300 years. They 

descend from a family of the same name who were lords of Stretton, near Warrington. Peter 

Starkey, son of Thomas Starkey of Stretton married Joan one of the daughters and heirs of John de 

Olton, lord of Oulton Lowe in the early years of the fifteenth century. Incidentally, Peter's brother 

Thomas married Joan's sister Ellen and inherited her father's estates at Wrenbury where he settled. 

 

The next generation of Starkeys is represented by two brothers, Hugh and Humphrey. The first 

was born in 1412 and married Elinor Done, daughter of Sir John Done of nearby Utkinton, and 

from whom the main line of the family descends. Humphrey moved away from Cheshire and 

eventually became Sir Humphrey Starkey, lord chief baron of the Exchequer. 

 

When Hugh died in 1438, he was succeeded as lord of the manor of Oulton by John who was born 

in June 1434. He died on Palm Sunday, 29 March 1461 and left a widow, Agnes, who was a 

member of the Needham family from Shavington near Crewe and sister to Sir John Needham. 

There was once a stained glass window in the south aisle to the memory of this couple. The 

illustration showed the figures kneeling at a desk with the man in full plate armour. Today one can 

see remnants of a medieval window along the north aisle. The easternmost window, positioned at 

high level, has three lights: one can just make out in the centre of the left-hand pane a ladies hands 

clasped together and in the centre pane a knight in armour kneeling at a desk. These may be pieces 

of the Starkey window, but equally they may be parts of the Manley window of 1509 referred to in 

the previous section. 

 

The next lord of the manor was another Hugh, born in 1458. He married Margaret, daughter of 

Phillip Egerton of Egerton. We are fortunate in that Hugh's will, dated 3 July 1526, survives the 

passage of time. Firstly, he asked to be buried in the 'church of Owver', and then left seven marks 
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(£4.66) for a priest to say or sing a mass for 

his soul at Budworth church for a whole 

year after his death. He also gave to the poor 

people of Budworth the sum of 18s 9d to be 

distributed every Friday for fifteen weeks 

after his death. He then gave the same 

church a number of bequests: a chalice, a 

mass book, vestments for the priest to wear 

during mass, a violet coloured gown with a 

fur hood, £3 15s (£3.75) and £5 towards the 

purchase of bells. To St Chad's church he 

gave only his best heifer, presumably as a 

traditional mortuary gift to his parish 

church. The year in which Hugh's wife 

Margaret made her will is unreadable, but 

may have been in the same year as her 

husband's as it was dated 11 July and 

presumably a week after Hugh's. In this she 

requests that she be buried at Over and that 

Ã1 be paid óin penniesô to the poor on the 

day of her burial. To the construction of 

Budworth church steeple she gave £1 and 

for the buying of bells for the steeple 

another £1 along with her best gown. In 

view of them being benefactors of Saint 

Peter's church at Little Budworth, it would 

seem that both Hugh and his wife were 

regular church goers there. Further, it seems 

that they only did what was required of 

them as regards their parish church ï the 

church in which they were interred.
55

 It is 

their altar tomb which once stood before the 

steps of the chancel.  

 

The next Hugh, born in 1487, was a courtier 

to  King Henry VIII as a 'gentleman usher'. 

It is this Hugh who constructed the south 

aisle and porch at St. Chad's.
56

 Hugh's will 

also survives and is dated 5 August 1555. 

He asked that, if he be fortunate enough to 

die in Cheshire, his body be buried in his tomb in the chancel of church at Over. To the vicar of 

Over he gave £2 as a mortuary gift and prayers.
57

 Hugh married Margery Swanwick but had no 

children by her. He did have an illegitimate son named Oliver who became a knight of Malta 

(originally the Hospitallers of St. John of Jeruselem or Knights Templars) and eventually Grand 

Prior of the Order. As Hugh's will was proved on 21 October the same year he presumably died in 

September or October, but whether he did die in the county and whether or not his remains were in 

fact interred at St Chad's we do not know. The marble slab of the tomb referred to in the will is that 

which still survives in the church under the obtuse arch on the north wall of the chancel.  

 

Hugh's brother James inherited the family's estates. He was married to Elizabeth, daughter of Sir 

Randle Brereton of Malpas, whose brother Sir William Brereton was accused by Henry VIII of 

having an affair with his queen, Anne Boleyn, and was executed on 17 May 1536.
58

 James was 

only lord of Oulton for a few years as he died in 1557 leaving a son named John as his heir. John, 

who married Alice Dutton, is the first we know to have lived at Darley Hall in Oulton Lowe. The 

original home was probably Oulton Hall in the south of the township. Both John, who died in 

1611, and his wife were buried at Over.
59

 Their son Hugh, born in 1555, resided at Knights Grange 

in Over and died shortly before his father in 1611. This Hugh's will records that he wished to be 

Hugh Starkeyôs incised brass effigy 
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buried in "that part of the church of Over which I indicated to the Deane of Over and being the 

special kneeling place belonging to the fee of Darley betwixt the usual seat of the said fee and the 

lower end of that Aisle under the wall". He also requested that he be buried at night without any 

'funeral pomp'.
60

 The location of his tomb is not known, presumably somewhere under a wall of 

the south aisle, but as he requested secrecy it is unlikely that any monument was erected. As Hugh 

only had two daughters and a son who died without children, the next lord of Oulton was John, son 

of Hugh's brother Ralph Starkey of London. John, born in April 1608, had a son Henry who, two 

years after his father's death, sold the Oulton estates in 1686 to the Egertons of Oulton Park. The 

family then moved to Congleton. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A selection of the mediaeval corbels 
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Chapter Three: 

The Stuart Period 
 

 

At the start of the century Over parish contained about 800 souls and then by 1610 the population 

appears to have dropped back to about 640 but recovered, ten years later, to a figure of about 900. 

In the 1640s there was a decline in population which recovered somewhat over the next two 

decades.
 61 

A check on these figures can be made with the returns of the Hearth Tax collections of 

1664. The there were 144 houses in Over, Wettenhall and Oulton suggesting a population of 600.
62

 

The Poll Tax lists show 145 people listed in Over, though this list may be incomplete, and Oulton 

Lowe with twenty-six who paid the tax.
63

  

 

The social structure of Over was of a kind that pertained generally in rural townships at the time. 

At the top of the pyramid were a small number of gentry families; below which there was a small 

body of yeoman farmers, followed by a larger group of husbandmen. The bulk of the population 

consisted of cottagers, day labourers, servants and peasants. Into this agrarian community fitted at 

various levels, rural craftsmen ï carpenters, wheelwrights, smiths, websters, tailors, tanners and 

local tradesmen such as butchers and bakers. Even these, who gained most of their income from 

their specialist skills, had cattle and land as a supplement, as a ófall-backô when trade was 

depressed, so that the vast majority of the inhabitants derived their living from farming and its 

allied occupations.  

 

Farming was chiefly for subsistence, though a few of the larger farmers and estate owners 

probably produced a surplus for local sale and for other nearby markets. Mixed farming, a 

combination of pastoral and arable, was the rule, though the local topography and the nature of the 

soil favoured cattle rather than crops, and the arable farmer needed cattle for manure as there were 

no fertilisers other than marl. 

 

The seventeenth century was a century of political and religious upheaval which certainly had an 

effect on the people of Over.                 

 

In one of the first military acts of the Civil War, in November 1644, the city of Chester came under 

siege from Parliamentarian forces under the command of Sir William Brereton from his 

headquarters at Tarvin. The state of affairs imposed by the leaguer (to use the contemporary term) 

was to last for a long fifteen months. The conditions endured by the residents of the city need not 

concern us here, other than to say that they suffered great hardship. Times were also hard for the 

inhabitants of the surrounding villages upon whom the besieging troops imposed themselves. 

Further out, the villages and townships of Malpas, Tarvin and Christleton suffered the 

inconvenience of permanent garrisons; but the effects of the tumultuous events of 1644-45 were 

felt even further a field and Over was no exception. During this time it is known that a detachment 

of Parliamentary soldiers was based in the parish at Darley Hall, Oulton, but was is not generally 

known is that Over was a garrison town too. 

 

The constables of the borough and manor of Over recorded details, in the form of accounts, of the 

losses and inconveniences of the local population, in the vain hope of compensation. It seems that 

the earliest occurrence of troops being quartered was in the first few months of 1643, óa little 

before the first battle of Middlewichô (13 March). Raffe Houlbrooke of Over recorded a charge of 

13s. 4d. for lodging ten men and ten horses under Breretonôs command . The majority of cases of 

Over people suffering losses at the hands of Roundhead soldiers was during 1644/45. In the spring 

of 1645, Parliament's Yorkshire cavalry arrived in Cheshire and took a part in the sieges of 

Beeston and Chester and then when Prince Rupert relieved Beeston the Yorkshiremen, under the 

command of a German mercenary Major Hans George, withdrew to Over. The losses of the local 

people fall into three broad categories: livestock of all kinds; food and drink, particularly cheese; 

and miscellaneous items such as bedding, cloth, beds, clothes, pewter ware, yarn, horse gear, 

weaponry and even a ladies petticoat! In all £268 8s 3d was claimed for quartering Parliamentary 

troops; £360 18s 8d. claimed for the repayment of loans made to Parliament; and £606 14s 7d. for 
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general losses: a total of over £1200. 

 

The later years of the 16th century saw the rise of the Puritans. They differed from the established 

church on church administration and on ceremonies. They believed that the Reformation had not 

gone far enough from the Church of Rome, and it was from their desire for óa purer form of 

worshipô that they received their name. Puritans also objected to the government of the church by 

bishops. For a time they were tolerated within the Church of England and, to a certain extent 

influenced its development, though many were fined and imprisoned for refusing to obey the Act 

of Uniformity. Their position became untenable towards the end of Elizabethôs reign and separate 

sects began to be formed. These sects were the forerunners of Nonconformity. 

 

Puritanism is a collective name for various Protestant sects which thrived in England and the New 

World from the 1600s. They were disciples of Martin Luther and Jean Calvin. Protestantism was 

active in Cheshire and óexercisesô (services) were held in the area in the late sixteenth century. In 

the autumn of that year the Solemn League and Covenant was signed by two-thirds of the Cheshire 

clergy. These signatures indicated, among other things, a general desire for church reform.  

 

There was thus a large body of opinion that was not willing to conform to the re-establishment of 

the Church of England at the restoration of Charles II in 1660. Charlesôs first Parliament was 

hostile to Nonconformists, many severe laws were passed against them, and, in 1662, the third Act 

of Uniformity enacted that all ministers of the church should be ordained by a bishop, should use 

the Common Prayer Book and should take the oath of non-resistance. About one-fifth of the 

English clergy refused and were ejected from their livings. They and their supporters were known 

as Nonconformists. Under Acts of 1664, and 1665, Nonconformist gatherings became illegal. A 

list of unlawful óconventiclesô in Cheshire was made in 1669.  

 

The Pershalls - Lords of the Manor of Over  

For the majority of the seventeenth century the 

lordship of the manor of Over was in the hands of the 

Pershall family who had purchased the manor of Over 

from the Holcrofts. Edmund Pershall, a grocer and 

general merchant of London, was descended from a 

Staffordshire family. In 1637, he was described as 

gaining a living óby buying and selling of wools as a 

Merchant of the Stapleô. As a business man he seems 

to have been unsuccessful as he fell into serious debt. 

In 1624, financial pressures were such that Edmund 

feared the loss of his property and consequently 

conveyed some of his manors, lands and tenements to 

three friends to hold in trust. That same year, 

Edmundôs eldest son and heir, Robert, along with one 

of the trustees, purchased a tenement and 100 acres of 

land that had been occupied by Elizabeth Entwisley. 

Edmundôs creditors complained that he was either 

attempting to defraud them or at least defray 

repayment of his debts. Failing to come to terms with 

his creditors he was arrested for debt on 7 January 

1625/6 and thrown into the Fleet prison. Subsequently, 

the High Court of Chancery directed that Edmund be 

tried for bankruptcy and at the Court of Common 

Pleas held at Westminster he was formally judged a 

bankrupt. Efforts to resolve the case were not 

straightforward. On 5 March 1628/9, the 

commissioners ordered new trustees to sell the manor 

to satisfy the creditors. During all this time Edmund 

languished in the Fleet prison and died there on 26 

March 1629.  

The Communion Cup with the arms of the 

Pershall family, dated 1663 
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On 6 April 1637, an inquiry into Edmund Pershallôs estate was held at Northwich. The jurors 

declared that he had held the manor of Over from the King and that it contained 80 messuages, 20 

cottages, 4 water-mills, 1 horse-mill, and 4650 acres of various land types, 8 burgages, rents from 

various tenants and the profits of the courts of Over. Edmund, aged 22 years when his father died 

was declared to be the son and heir (presumably Robert had died earlier). It was this Edmund 

Pershall gave the silver Communion Chalice and Paten, inscribed with his coat of arms to the 

church in 1632. Between Edmund seniorôs death in 1629 and the date of the inquisition in 1637, 

the profits of Edmundôs estate were drawn by Edmund junior, Thomas Cholmondeley, Henry Lee 

of Darnhall and Ralph Bostock of Moulton. Eventually, on 22 June 1637, £2300 was raised from 

Edmundôs lands to satisfy the creditors and then on 12 December, the rectory of Whitegate, along 

with various farms, messuages, tenements and cottages in Over and Whitegate were sold for £2228 

6s. 8d. to Thomas Cholmondeley of Vale Royal by the trustees who included Edmund and Thomas 

Pershall.  

 

Edmund Pershall, junior, supported the Royalist cause during the Civil War and saw active service 

becaming a prisoner at the battle of Worcester on 20 July 1646. Both Edmund and his brother 

Thomas had been declared delinquents in May that year for having ódeserted their homes and 

adhered to the forces raised against Parliament.
64

 As a result the family's possessions were seized 

and all income from them paid to Parliament. 

 

Having eventually succeeded in recovering the lordship of Over but still in debt, Pershall sold the 

manor for £2,400 to Thomas Cholmondeley of Vale Royal. At this time Edmund and his brother 

occupied a house on Handley Hill and lands known as Rutterôs tenement having previously sold 

the old manor house (known as Church Hill house) to Matthew Moreton for £500. Edmund was 

buried at Over on 2 June 1676.  

 

The Church in the Stuart Period 

Due to the non-survival of the vestry minutes and the churchwardens' accounts, we now nothing of 

the church and the administration of the parish during the seventeenth century. It is perhaps 

unlikely that any significant alterations will have been made to the fabric of the church, though 

there may well have been repairs from time to time.  

 

We may make some assumptions based on the religious turmoil of the first half of the century.  

The interior of the church will have remained whitewashed and lacking any ornamentation. Any 

religious statues and some of the effigies will have been destroyed. The chancel will have been 

screend off an hardly used. Instead the emphasis will have been on the chancel.  The focal points 

of the church will have been the pulpit and the lectern  

 

An inventory of the church's property was made in 1663. This shows that the buildings consisted 

of a house of three bays standing on the 'glebe' land, and a four-bay barn with shoring for a stable. 

The lands around these buildings were described as being two gardens and a fold, with an acre of 

meadow adjoining the house. In the town fields the church had a flat of ground containing about an 

acre called the 'Gallows Loont' and another called 'Hollow way head Loont'; another two loonts 

containing seven butts (a block of three and another of four) lying in the same field; seven more 

butts all lying together; another four butts alongside 'John Clifford's hedge'; two butts called 

'Ludgate Loont'. The list was witnessed by Humphrey Lee, Andrew Tottie and Thomas 

Whittingham, 'guardians' (churchwardens).
65

  

 

There is now only a single memorial in the church to a person from this period although at one 

time there used to be a plain octagonal font of 1641 which carried the initials T.W.
66

 Along the 

wall of the north aisle there is a tablet in memory of Thomas Bosier who died on 7 January 1697. 

The latin inscription, translated reads: "Sacred to the pious memory of Thomas Bosier, a former 

Mayor of this town, a man who specially deserves to be remembered as a most strenuous supporter 

of the church and King's Majesty as much in adversity as in prosperity. He lived 78 years, pious 

towards God and righteous towards all men. At length he entered the way of universal flesh, Jan. 
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The glebe lands of 1663 

7
th
, AD. 1697." Apparently this plaque had been lost and was recovered from under the 

foundations during building work in 1870. 

 

The Clergy 

There were nine vicars during the seventeenth century of which one was appointed twice.  

 

Arthur Barker was vicar of Over from 1615 and saw the early years of the Civil War. About the 

year 1643 he was required to advance money for the Parliamentary cause and gave £2. He also 

suffered the loss of a nag taken by a man called Mottershead who was under Sir William 

Brereton's command and other soldiers took a mare and household goods. When the account of 

these losses was made Barker was described as 'late vicar of Over' and it seems he may have 

resigned  a year or so earlier; he is similarly described in the years 1645 to 1647 as one of Edmund 

Pershall's tenants then required to pay rent for his property to the Parliamentary Commissioners.  

 

John Ford who followed Barker is listed as being inducted in 1647 and yet he seems to have been 

minister at Over a few years earlier and occurs as paying £10 to the Parliamentary cause in 

1643/44.
67

 In addition the vicar suffered losses: three bushels and a strike of oats, valued together 

at £1, were seized at various times by Captain Buckley, Colonel Ashenhurst, and Major Zankey 

some Yorkshire soldiers who even 'took the 'sack that they were in'. The vicar was also required to 

accommodate soldiers on three occasions. In all he claimed £11 7s in losses to the Parliamentary 

cause. Parson Ford was threatened and harassed out of his vicarage and temporarily replaced by 

John Hall who remained for only a few years before the appointment of John Ashbrooke in 

December 1652.
68

 For some reason Ashbrooke deserted the living in January 1663. John Hall 

returned to the vicarage at Easter 1663 and remained for a further twelve years. 

 

During the civil war, Thomas Cholmondeley of Vale Royal, was compounded by Parliament as a 

'delinquent' for having taken a commission with the King's army and being active in Chester 

during the siege there. He petitioned against the decision but nevertheless he was subjected to a 

fine of £1200. On appeal this sum was reduced to £450 upon condition that he settle on the rectory 
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of Over for the use of the minister an annual income of £50 from the tithes of the parish and £40 a 

year to the incumbent at Wettenhall.
69

  

 

Littler Sheene is the next vicar. During his ministry at Over he was certainly involved in 

controversy and on one occasion was cited in a case heard by the Chester Consistory Court. The 

matters alleged arose following a fight involving Abraham Smith, the curate, who was 'full of ale' 

during a midnight drinking session in Widow Cooke's alehouse next to the church. It appears that 

the vicar and the curate were not getting on very well. Sheene had apparently criticised the bishop 

of Chester as being sympathetic to Prestbytarians and Smith with others had disturbed and 

hindered the vicar in performing his duty on account of this. On one occasion Smith had locked the 

church door against the incumbent and placed a lock on the pulpit door. John Twemlow a witness 

for the vicar stated that Smith had performed an illegal act of marriage in Alice Barkerôs alehouse 

in Whitegate between Thomas Burroughs and Mary Dodd. For the other side, a man named 

Robinson gave evidence that Sheene had fathered two bastards on sisters Marjory and Mary 

Maddock.
70

 Interesting times! 

 

Following Sheene the following vicars were installed: Thomas Falkner in 1678; Robert Griffith in 

1689; Richard Weaver in 1695 and Joseph Lees in 1706. 

 

Darnhall School 

Although not within the parish, Darnhall School's proximity to the church makes it worthy of a 

mention.  

 

During the Civil War Darnhall was the property of Thomas Lee whose mother, Elizabeth, left him 

£220 for the purpose of  'maintaining a fit person to be schoolmaster (or mistress) to teach the 

youth and inhabitants of Darnhall, or the neighbourhood thereof. In order, therefore, to carry out 

his mother's wishes, Thomas Lee made an indenture on the 20 May 1699, between himself and six 

other "sufficient persons" including his son, Nathaniel. Under the agreement Thomas erected a 

school upon a piece of ground known as 'Jackson's Croft in the parish of Darnhall, near to a place 

thereto adjoining called Holding Cross' (just north of Knobbs Farm). He also purchased a farm or 

tenement at Tattenhall, near Chester, the rent of which was to be used to maintain the school. 

Evidence of Thomas Lee's Presbyterian outlook can be seen in the Articles and Statutes which he 

drew up for the running of the school. He desired to establish a school on grammar school lines 

and wanted Latin and Greek to be taught if requested, but he was also insistent on the careful 

supervision of the religious and moral training of the pupils.  
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Chapter Four: 

The Hanovarian Period 

 

 

The eighteenth century saw many changes within the parish of Over, not the least of which was the 

passing of the Weaver Navigation Act in 1721. Creating a navigable waterway from the sea as far 

as Winsford Bridge brought prosperity to the area. Salt produced in the works alongside the river 

was exported to the Mersey and Liverpool whilst coal was brought back as fuel for the fires 

beneath the iron salt pans. China clay was brought here to for onward carriage to the Staffordshire 

potteries, at least until the opening of the Trent and Mersey Canal. The significant increase in trade 

and prosperity encouraged people to settle in Over resulting in a dramatic rise of population in the 

first two decades of the nineteenth century. 

 

At the beginning of the eighteenth century Over's population, including Wettenhall and Oulton 

Lowe, was about 1000. In 1704 there were eighty-nine individuals paying land tax in Over and 

Swanlow but this would only represent a small proportion of the total.
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 By 1778 there were 205 

houses, of which 45 were in Wettenhall, suggesting a population of between 800 and 1000 people 

which had had remained fairly static during the eighteenth century.  The families at this time were 

mainly farmers on rack rents with only a few lease-hold estates; the rest of the population were day 

labourers, cottagers and peasants.
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The next century was to produce a dramatic increase in numbers. By 1804 the population totalled 

1329 with 253 families in 200 houses: fifty-one per cent of these were unemployed, fifteen per 

cent were engaged in agriculture and thirty-three per cent were employed in trade. Six years later 

there were 1796 people living in Over township with a further 330 living in Wettenhall and Oulton 

Lowe. These were distributed amongst 358 families housed in 339 houses: of these families 10 

percent were engaged in agriculture, 9 per cent in trade with the remainder not falling into either of 

those categories, they being either labourers or else unemployed. The first ten years or so of the 

nineteenth century witnessed a doubling of the population in the parish. 

 

The Church  

A description of the interior of the church that existed at this time, and certainly prior to the 

alterations of the mid nineteenth century, is given in Powell's history. The walls were plastered and 

whitewashed; low flat ceilings hid the rafters of the roof; and the nave and the side aisles were 

lined with high walled pews. The pulpit in the centre of the nave and facing south, consisted of 

three-stories: the lower being the seat of the parish clerk. In 1810 a seating gallery, measuring 

twenty-four yards in length and four yards wide, was built in the south aisle with another fourteen 

yards by four and a half yards along the west end. Prior to the installation of an organ musicians 

would sit and play a variety of instruments in the west gallery. The first organ was purchased by 

private subscription and installed in 1831, due to the efforts of the Revd. Jackson for which  thanks 

were entered in the church wardens accounts. 

 

In 1812 a clock was installed on the west face of the tower with the initials I.V. and I.T on its face, 

referring to churchwardens John Vernon and John Thompson. This apparently replaced an earlier 

clock for which there are records in the mid eighteenth century of money being spent on repair to 

such a clock. In fact vicar Edward Moore (1753-56) was killed when one of the clock weights fell 

on him shortly after he had officiated at a marriage: there is an inscription to his memory on a 

piscine in the vestry and on a memorial plaque on the west wall of the nave.
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In 1829 a plan of the church showing the owners of the various pews was made. Although the 

original, which was once in the parish chest, seems now to be lost, a copy was made and published 

in the Parish Magazine in 1907, which forms the basis of the plan below. Pews or seating boxes 

were allocated to the following members of the local gentry for use by their family friends and 
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tenants: Lord Delamere, Sir Phillip Grey Egerton, Admiral Tolemash, Charles Cholmondeley, 

William Thompson Corbett, George Wilbraham and Edward Tomkinson. Of these persons the 

majority were allocated to Lord Delamere who was the principle land-owner in the parish. The 

Bishop of Chester has six pews, one of which was for his use and the other five were leased out to 

Cholmondeley, Corbett, a Mrs Tomkies, the executors of John Gresty, junior, and William Court. 

Three of these, those against the north wall of the chancel were eventually formed into a special 

pew room for the Corbett family. It was often the case that certain seating spaces in a church were 

tied to a particular estate so that that family pews were handed down from generation to generation 

and would also pass to any new owner of an estate. It is for that reason that the plan mentions 'John 

Baker, Dork Farm', 'T.Williams, Oak House', 'Woodford Hall Estate, and 'Mrs. Lewis, Wheat 

Sheaf'. Other seats, including those on the gallery, which are not shown on the plan, were sold to 

parishioners a practice which continued until the end of the nineteenth century. In fact when the 

gallery was erected permission was given by the Diocesan office for seats to be sold to pay for the 

its cost with any surplus going towards the purchase of an organ.
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 Pews were sometimes sold by 

auction and in 1818 six pews raised £40 5s., less £2 4s 6d. costs. In 1813 Thomas Walker paid £3 

for a pew and William Mills paid Ã5 5s. for ópews in the backside of the west galleryô.
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Looking closely at the plan of the church, and bearing in mind that it is obviously not to scale and 

is only a copy, there are some interesting details when compared with a plan drawn in 1868. First 

the font is positioned at the west-end of the south aisle, whereas by 1868 it was at the end of the 

nave. Next there seems to be only one staircase up to the gallery, whereas forty years later there 

were two, one at each end of the south aisle. According to the 1829 plan there seems to be only 

four pillars in the south arcade, but presumably this is a mistake by the copyist who missed the 

easternmost pillar from his drawing. The pulpit, is shown positioned in the centre of the nave. 

Lastly, and importantly so far as the structure of the church is concerned, four pillars are shown in 

the north arcade. By 1868 there were only three pillars in the arcade, the easternmost being part of 

a north wall of the chancel and the Corbett pew was then further east, behind that easternmost 

pillar and wall. Apparently at some time between 1829 and 1868 there was some rebuilding with 

the purpose of providing an exclusive area, a pew-room, for the Corbetts. The new walls, 

according to the 1868 plan were much thinner than the main structural walls were of timber. 

  

In 1733, the original four bells that hung in the tower were recast by Rudhalls of Gloucester into a 

ring of five bells. One of the bells bears the names of Charles Pickering and Thomas Robinson 

who were then churchwardens. Another had Vicar Lees name upon it.
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The ground plan of the church in 1829 showing ownership of the pews. 



 

 35 

In 1778 Bishop Porteus of Chester conducted a survey or Visitation of his diocese and this was 

written up the following year to create a record on the state of religion in Cheshire at that time. The 

notes on the parish of Over are as follows: 

'Houses 206. Papists 0. Dissenters 0. Methodists 8 families. 1 Methodist Meeting 

house. [Parish] 3 miles long: 1½ broad. Divine Service and 1 sermon on Sunday. 

Prayers on Holy Days. Catechising in Lent and before Confirmation. Holy 

Sacrament 8 times a year. Communicants about 60.  

[Endowment] Augmented 3 times by Benefaction and Q. A. B., £400 each time. 

Estates purchased which produce £34 p.a. clear and the Vicarage House also 

purchased with lands that let for £11p.a. which added the certified value above, viz. 

£18 16. 0., making the whole income £63 16. 0. p.a. No terrier. Register book 

properly kept. Parsonage house not in good repair. Church and Chancel are.  

[Charities of £80] Great part of this and other small benefactions lost by bad 

securities. Three guineas per annum is all that now remains for the poor: the 

offertory money is distributed to the poor by the Minister and Churchwardens.'
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A further record reports that the vicar's salary was £40.
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In 1804 a further survey revealed that there were then a few Methodists (Wesleyan) who met in a 

parlour along Swanlow Lane. A bishop's Visitation four years later stated the following: two 

Methodist houses, one Calvanist, in Over, the other Wesleyan, in Swanlow; there were then 200 

houses and a population of 1329. The vicar's income was then £50 a year. Ten years later there 

were 270 houses and 1650 souls. In 1821 we are informed that the church was in a good state of 

repair with pews for 1200 and pews for 100 poor people; that about six or seven hundred people 

usually attend the church; that the church plate consisted of two flagons, two psalters, and one cup 

of silver; and that there were five bells.  

 
The affairs of the church and parish continued to be organised through the regular meetings of the 

vestry- the forerunner of the Parish Church Council of today. These were often held during this 

period at the east end of the south aisle in the private pew of the lords of Oulton - the Starkey 

family and then the Egertons. It seems that a charge of thirty pence a year was paid to the lord, as 

in 1799 a lump sum was paid for the previous seven years. 

 

The surviving churchwardens' accounts and vestry minutes commence in 1748 and provide a 

unique insight into the affairs of St. Chad's and the parish.
79

 The accounts consist of a statement of 

income (receipts) for the financial year together with a list of expenses (disbursements). The 

accounts were presented at the Easter vestry meeting for approval. At this same meeting new 

wardens would be appointed and they would then receive any surplus money to carry forward into 

the coming year or would be reimburse the out-going wardens for any overspend. 

 

The income took the form of 'leyes' or rates. The 'ley' was based on local assessments of property 

rents; although locally imposed they could be enforced by the church courts. This was a 

compulsory rate for all inhabitants of the parish - not merely the churchgoers - so for some there 

was reluctance to pay which prompted the following resolution from a meeting in 1814: 

'é.resolved unanimously that all persons who are in arrears for Church Rates 

should be called on immediately for payment, and if they neglect or refuse to pay 

the said arrears, the Churchwardens are to proceed according to law to recover 

sameé' 

 

Particularly useful so far as the Over records are concerned are the lists of rate-payers and their 

individual payments. In the first year for which we have records, the township of Over had forty-

nine payees who contributed £6 13 10½ (averaging 2s 8¾d with sums varying between 8s 3d and 

4½d); Swanlow's twenty-eight rate-payers produced £6 8s 0¼ (averaging 4s 6¾d); Wettenhall's 

twenty-five men paid £11 18s 11d.(9s 6¾); and Oulton Lowe's nine parishioners paid £4 5s 8½ (9s 

6¼d). These sums were based on a rate of 7s 6d in the pound. Four years later the rate was five 
shillings and then in 1753 it returned to the former amount.  
 

During the nineteenth century though there was good deal of variation from a high of thirty 

shillings in March 1813 to a low of 2½ in 1843. In 1823 a new assessment dramatically reduced  
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A page from the Church Wardens Accounts. The Disbursements for Swanlow in 1755 
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A page from the Church Wardens Accounts. The Memorandum of 1758 
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the rate from fifteen shillings to six pence, but even then there was an outcry from parishioners and 

a special meeting was held to consider 'the validity of the objections' to the new rate. Much of the 

objections raised were not the actual rate but the re-valuation of properties which had been made 

by 'mere estimation'. As a result a general survey of the parish was ordered and that a rate of 

twenty shillings be adopted for the remainder of the year. Estimates for costs in making the survey 

were received from Joseph Rimmer of Old Hough, Warmingham and Joseph Dunn of Hartford and 

the latter was successful. 

 

Eventually 'é a new ley was granted to be assessed at 4d in the pound according to the 

assessment, namely, that the valuation of the land which has been made by a committee of the 

most respectable farmers of the four townships.' This valuation was at the former meeting 

disallowed, but is now found to be good and valid, and therefore in the judgement of this Vestry it 

ought to be collected from.' 

 

The controversies of 1814 and 1823 mark the beginning of the end of the church rate system. In 

1868 such rates were abolished by an Act of Parliament. 

 

The disbursements may be grouped into seven categories: a) maintenance of the fabric with regular 

payments to local builders, roofers, carpenters, masons and general labourers; b) specialist needs 

such as clock repairs and bell hanging; c) control of vermin; d) payments to the bell ringers and 

parish clerk; e) refreshments and entertainment, and f) donations to the poor. Here are some of the 

details: 

 

a) In 1760 four pence was paid for a new white basin for the font; in 1749 two prayer books were 

purchased fore £1 10s. In that same year the bill for glazing was £1 16s 9½d. In 1755 the old flags 

were taken up a leveled in the middle aisle and chancel, the reading desk was altered and the 

church whitewashed at a cost of 3s 6d. In 1796 the church was whitewashed at a cost of 2s 9d. 

 

b) In 1755 money was paid out on oil for the clock and bell gear and for tending the clock and 

fitting a new bell wheel.. Repairs to the clock were carried out in 1756.  

 

c) In 1748 8s 8d was paid out for fifty-two dozen sparrow heads and in 1787 the enormous number 

of 209 dozen cost £1 14s 10d at the rate of 2d a dozen. A shilling was paid for a fox head in 1750 

and hedgehogs were included in the payments made in 1975. In 1749 owls in the church were 

destroyed at a cost of 1s 6d. 

 

d) For ringing Mr. Cholmondeley's birthday in 1749 cost five shillings. In 1751 ringing the bells 

on Christmas Day Easter, 29 May, 5
th
 November and 1

st
 January cost 2s 6d. each time. Ringing 

also tok place to mark special national events. On 30 Setember 1794 ringers were paid 10s 6d 

when Admiral Howe conquered the French Fleet; three years later ringers received 2s 6d for 

ringing Admiral Duncan's defeat of the Dutch and in 1798 they had 10s 6d for one of Nelson's 

victories. The ringers receive a whole guinea (£1 1s 0d) on the occasion of the Battle of Trafalgar.  

In 1788 it was decided at a vestry meeting that Robert Daxon be paid 10s 6d a year to ring the bell 

at 6 o'clock in the morning and 7 in the evening during the summer and between 7 and 8 during the 

winter months. 

 

e) Singers from other parish were often entertained at Over. In 1752 2s 6d was spent on the 

Middlewich singers and in 1795 10s 6d was the bill for ale for the Coppenhall singers. In 1753 ten 

shillings was spent. Bills for drink from the 'Church Stile' (the Blue Bell Inn) are frequently 

encountered. 'To ale spirits and tobacco, £3'. 'To the rope make, I quart of ale, 8d.' To ale and 

spirits had at a vestry meeting, 10s.' One bill of inordinate length lists 'ale for the ringers', ' 14 

glasses of rum, 7s', 'liqure sundry times, 19s', 'spent at a meeting, £1 6s 8d', 'spent at vesitation, £6 

14s 2d', '2 bottles of wine, sacrament, 11s 8d'. The bill from 17 August 1812 to Christmas Day 

1871 came to a total of £56 13s 3d which was not paid off until 1820. 

 

f) Giving to the poor was a particular responsibility the wardens undertook. In1754 there is a list of 

thirty-six names of those who received sums of between one and three shillings, to a total of £2 8s 

6d; seven shillings was allowed for the poor of Wettenhall. The following year seven people 
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received thirteen shillings. In 1764 sixty-three people received a total of £3 11s 6d.  

 

Money for the poor also came from a series of bequests made by parishioners from time to time. 

The most valuable of these was made by Francis Cholmondeley in 1713 who left certain books to 

the widows, orphans and fatherless children of Over and Whitegate. These were sold for £240 

which was then invested to produce £12 a year. A further eleven individuals left a total of £73, 

comprised of small sums between £2 and £10, but how much this realised is not recorded.
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The churchwardens were keen to keep parochial expenditure to a minimum. At the meeting held 

on 21 May 1758 the following was recorded.  

Memorandum that it is agreed (this day at a Vestry meeting called and held in 

the Parish Church of Over) that for the future there shall not be any of the 

following Expenses Allowed.  

Viz
t.
 to Allow two shillings and sixpence for each Church Warden, Sidesman, 

Parson, & Clerk at each Visitation and no more and to allow no more than 

sixpence to be spent on the Paritor each time and not to Allow any expenses 

spent on strange Ministers at neither Over nor Wetnall. 

not to Allow any more than ten shillings to be spent at Easter. 

not to Allow for any Wardens or Sidesmens Dinners at Easter, the 5th of 

November, &tc 

not to Allow any expenses in Wetnall on any accounts whatsoever not to Allow 

anything for Bread and Wine for the sacrament in Wetnall without first getting 

the consent of the Vicar and Church Wardens of Over & Swanlow. 

not to Allow any Expenses at paying any Bills. 

to Allow no more than Two Pounds Ten Shillings for Ringing on all Sundays, 

Christmas, Easter, 29
th
 of May, the 5

th
 of November, the King's Birth Day, and 

all other Prayer Days, to Allow no more than five shillings to be spent when 

the Church Wardens make their accounts. 

Not for the future to allow of any charges for Sparrow Heads &tc 

as witness our hands 

John Gleave, Vicar, 

John Sayor,  John Huxley Mayor 

Joseph Maddock   J. Robinson 

Will: Piggott 

Thos. Whitfield 

 

Sixty years later John Vernon and Thomas Gresty proposed that: 

No more than 3s 6d per head be allowed for dinner and liquor at or Easter 

Vestry. 

Not more than £3 be expended at a Visitation. 

The Churchwardens not to be allowed to give orders for any work exceeding 

forty shillings without calling a Vestry. 

No bill to be paid before it has been examined and allowed at a monthly meeting 

and entered immediately into the Parish Accounts Book, and the date mentioned 

when it was paid and the receipt be kept for inspection at the Easter Meeting. 

No money be allowed for sparrow heads. 

 

In addition to the income received from leys the vicar and clerk imposed fees for various services 

in the church. From an unknown date, probably late eighteenth century a list of fees, in shillings, 

survives: 

Matrimony Vicar Clerk 

Publishing Banns of Marriage 2 1 

Marriage after Banns 2 1 

By Licence 10 5 

Burial   

Parishioner, at the usual hour 2 1 

Extra Parochial 4  

The same before noon, or at an unusual hour 6  
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Parochial churching 1 3 

Extra parochial 1 6 

For tolling Bell for Funeral 1  

For child's grave 1  

For Adults grave 2  

For Grave 9 feet deep 3  

   

For tolling bell longer than usual, and also for re-moving & replacing 

Tomb or Grave-Stone an additional charge. 

Hearse within the parish 2s 6d. For one mile beyond the parish and for 

every additional mile one shilling more. 

 

During the 1820s the churchyard received some attention. In February John Hamlett of Over 

produced an estimate to build and rebuild the wall of the churchyard over a length of forty-five 

feet at a height of five feet: the cost was £2 2s 8d. Four years later the Bishop of Chester 

consecrated 640 square yards of additional burying ground; this land had been part of the Bishopôs 

property here but was subject to claims by Charles Cholmondeley, then rejected for the sum of ten 

shillings paid by the Bishop.
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 In 1858 a further 2, 282 square yards were added. 

 

Before leaving this section about the church it is worth mentioning what is perhaps the only 

memorial from this period. Scratched into the stonework of the south wall below the wooden stairs 

is a shield shape with the letters 'I.G.' and the date 1711.  

 

The Clergy and the Benefice 

These were the vicars throughout this period: Joseph Lees from 1706; Edward Moore inducted in 

1753; John Gleave in 1756; Thomas Crane in 1801; and John Jackson in 1821. Of these 

incumbents Joseph Lees was the longest serving minister being here for forty-six years. He was 

apparently murdered in Welsh Lane on a return trip from Middlewich market.
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  Thomas Crane 

(1801 - 21) was something of a local historian and author and wrote a history of the parish of 

Eccleston, among other works. In 1804 he had a salary of £50 but was living in Chester suffering 

from blindness 'left eye dark & right eye infirm'.
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 Seven years later he was living in Bowden and 

had £70 a year. The licence granted to Crane to be excused from his duties required the curate, the 

Revd. John Edmeads, to perform the office and reside at the Parsonage House. 

 

During the 1820s the Parsonage House was reported as being small and dilapidated and as a 

consequence the vicar, Revd. John Jackson was given permission to reside elsewhere. Jackson was 

born in Prestbury, Macclesfield and appointed to the living in January 1821 and during the first 

five years he found it necessary to spend about £590 on improving the state of the vicarage 

property followed by a further £1000 on the house itself. However this latter sum may have been 

something of an investment for he used the vicarage as a school for young gentlemen. In the 1851 

census he is listed living with his wife, their daughter a number of servants and eleven pupils. 

Reverend Jackson died on 18 January 1863, aged 73, having been vicar for 42 years. A pulpit of 

carved oak on a base of white bath-stone was given by his widow in his memory. Vicar Jackson 

was succeeded in the living by his son Nathan who continued with running the school. In 1871 he 

had nine pupils residing at the vicarage along with his wife, mother and their servants. 

 
A vicar's stipend has always been meagre. In 1704 a fund was established by Queen Anne for the 

'augmentation of the maintenance of the poor clergy'.  

 

The main source of income was in the form of tithes. This was a charge upon all the parishioners 

of one tenth of all produce of land or labour which was legally enforceable and collected by parish 

officials. The whole of the money thus raised was originally intended for the incumbent and if he 

was rector of the parish this was the case, however in very many cases this valuable asset was 

granted to monastic institutions or lay lords as rector. In such instances this rector kept the main 

part of the tithe, took on the maintenance of the church building, and appointed a vicar to care for 

the parish who received the rest of the tithe. These divisions of the tithe were known as the 'great 

tithe' or rectorial tithe and the 'small tithe' or vicarial tithe. Since the Dissolution the great tithes 
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had been paid to the Bishop of Chester 

 

In 1715 an estate at Pickmere of about 28 acres was purchase for £450.The cost was divided 

between the Bishop, Queen Anne's Bounty and the vicar - Thomas Lees. The estate is described as 

having a six-roomed dwelling house, a barn, threshing floor, a cow house and parcels of land 

amongst ten fields: today this is known as Church Farm at the northern end of the township.
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 In 

1822 Vicar Jackson spent £315 in rebuilding the farm-house and outbuildings and then in 1894 

Vicar Powell spent a further £41 on the farm. 

 

During the first two decades of the eighteenth century it was certified that Over had £18 16s made 

up from small tithes of £17 18s and surplice fees of £1 from which was deducted 2s for 

procurations. In addition the vicar received every eleventh cock and 'ye rakings'. 

 

During the first two decades of the eighteenth century it was certified that Over had £18 16s made 

up from small tithes of £17 18s and surplice fees of £1 from which was deducted 2s for 

procurations. In addition the vicar received every eleventh cock and 'ye rakings'. 

 

In 1715 an estate at Pickmere of about 28 acres was purchase for £450.The cost was divided 

between the Bishop, Queen Anne's Bounty and the vicar - Thomas Lees. The estate is described as 

having a six-roomed dwelling house, a barn, threshing floor, a cow house and parcels of land 

amongst ten fields: today this is known as Church Farm at the northern end of the township.
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 In 

1822 Vicar Jackson spent £315 in rebuilding the farm-house and outbuildings and then in 1894  

Vicar Powell spent a further £41 on the farm in Pickmere. 
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Forty years later another estate was purchased. This was half of what was known as Dodd's 

tenement in Swanlow that cost £400. Again the cost was divided between the diocese and Queen 

Anne's Bounty. The property consisted of a six-roomed dwelling, a barn and a threshing floor, and 

15 acres of land along Darnhall School Lane. In 1788 four rooms were added to the house using 

some of the materials from the old Manor House in Parson's Orchard and at a cost of £60 to the 

vicar. In 1788 the vicar paid for four extra rooms to be added to the house at a cost of £60 using 

materials from the old Manor House in Parson's Orchard. This same building was renewed in 1826 

at a cost of £1000 when Vicar Jackson took residence. The bricks were made from clay dug out of 

Sandyway Field on the right hand side of the lane leading down to the church. The costs were 

shared between the vicar who contributed £275, several land-owners, including Charles 

Cholmondeley (who then held the rectorial tithes) who gave £125, and Queen Anne's Bounty 

£600. This building, the 'Old Vicarage', stands opposite the 'Old Star', is now converted into flats.  

The Pickmere estate which is still known as Church Farm. 
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The 19
th
 century glebe lands belonging to St. Chad's, taken from a portion of a map dated 1802. 

 

In 1763 Church Hill House, an ancient timber mansion, with three acres of land was purchased for 

£200.
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 The house, once the Manor House and the home of the Pershall family, is described as 

being fifty feet wide by twenty-three feet, having two storeys and a slate roof; it had a scullery, 

buttery and a cellar. It stood, less than a hundred yards from the church in a garden of fruit trees 

known as the 'Parson's Orchard', a position close to the shippon that was built in 1896 with bricks 

from the old vicarage that once stood to the south of the church. Vicar Gleave (1756-1800) 

repaired the house, then known as the Pasonage House at his own expense. But by 1788 this house 

was pulled down as being beyond repair. Four years later, the neighbouring lands called Sandiway 

Field and two adjoining closes called Upper and Lower Townfield, which had been part of Wall's 

tenement were purchased for £200. Of this total £400 Thomas Cholmondeley, esquire, of Vale 

Royal gave £50, Queen Anne's Bounty gave £200 with the remainder being provided by the vicar 

and local gentlemen. A map showing details of the benefice lands was made in 1802.
87

 

 

In 1841 the Ecclesiastical Commission which had replaced Queen Anne's Bounty, gave an £42 to 

the living bringing it up to a total of £150 a year.
88

 Then in 1845 all tithes were commuted of 

which the vicar's share was £18 11s 0d. This followed the passing of the Tithe Commutation Act 

of 1836 which resolved the many problems that had occurred of making payments in kind and the 

arbitrary use of payments in cash. Payments known as a tithe rent were now paid based upon an 

assessment determined by commissioners following a detailing mapping and analysis of every 

piece of ground within the parish.  


